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Friday, December 18, 2009

--- On commencing at 9:03 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Today is the eighth day in the hearing of Hydro One's distribution rate application, EB-2009-0096.  Today we will continue and complete the examination of witness panel 4 dealing with OM&A and capital issues.

Before we do that, we had another matter to deal with on cost of capital.  Before we do that, are there any preliminary matters?

Preliminary Matters: 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  

I would like to advise the Board that we are this morning filing additional undertaking answers, J6.1 -- and in that one I should point out there is a correction made.

Mr. Gee had been asked about the level of spending.  I have forgotten exactly what the topic was, but it was -- in any event, in answering the undertaking -- it was the data collection. 


In doing the undertaking, it was discovered that he was incorrect in his exchange with Mr. Buonaguro, and that is set out here in the answer to the undertaking.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  It is a different level of spending.  It was the actual level of spending.  So J6.1, J6.2, J6.4 and J6.7.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.
COST OF CAPITAL ISSUE


MS. NOWINA:  This morning we are going to receive submissions on the handling of the cost of capital issue in this proceeding.  I know Mr. Warren wanted to make some submissions.  Obviously Mr. Rogers will want to reply.

Is there anyone else who wishes to make -- Mr. Shepherd, Mr. DeRose, Mr. Crocker.

All right.  Mr. Warren, are you going to go first?
Submissions by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  The purpose of my submissions this morning, you asked me to indicate whether or not my client would be leading evidence on the cost of capital issue, and, if it were to lead evidence, what the practical scheduling implications of that would be.

I will make these submissions on behalf of myself and Mr. Buonaguro of VECC.  Mr. DeRose can speak to the matter himself, if he wishes.

We have decided, Madam Chair, that we will need be leading evidence on the cost of capital issue in this matter; that is after extensive deliberations among counsel and potential experts.

And a brief explanation for the rationale I think is in order.  In your directions on Tuesday of this week, you indicated that -- and I quote: 
"The Board does no intend to reopen the cost of capital policy, which is only recently determined after a lengthy and thorough review by the Board." 

And then you went on further to say:
"The Board considers the cost of capital policy to be sufficiently robust to apply across the board to all electricity LDCs.  The prior policy has also applied to all LDCs."

In the discussions, as I say, extensive discussions, leading to this morning, the conclusion that we reached, Madam Chair, is that any evidence we would lead would be, in effect, a reopening.  It would have been evidence that would have -- or information we would have led in the cost of capital review, and it would have been tantamount to, in effect, a request that that policy be reversed, and, in our view, it is not appropriate that we do so in this case, particularly in light of the direction you have given.

So in those circumstances, we have decided that we will not be leading evidence.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. DeRose will precede me.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeRose.
Submissions by Mr. DeRose:

MR. DeROSE:  I just felt it was -- two points, Madam Chair.  First of all, CME did participate in those discussions that Mr. Warren has just relayed to you, and we also will not be filing any separate cost of capital evidence.

Our focus -- we do remain concerned, however, with the bill impacts and the impact on rates arising out of the application of that policy.  And our focus on panel 5 will be to -- or we certainly intend to explore that, and to also ask the Board to consider and we will consider the extent to which, if any, mitigation is required.

And to that end, we would ask -- I know that last Friday, when the policy itself was released, Mr. Buonaguro, on behalf of VECC, did ask for some updates on the bill impacts.  And I would just like to reiterate and perhaps just provide a little bit more of a specific request, in light of, in particular, panel 5 now being put off until January 11th.

In the updated evidence on September 25th at G1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 6 of 6, Hydro One, if you will recall, did not update the detailed rate schedules and bill impacts to reflect the changes in the 2010 and 2011 revenue requirement arising out of that update, on the basis that the update had minimal impacts on the revenue requirement.  And, in our view, at that time that was appropriate.

From the evidence that we've had over the last week, the impact on the revenue requirement arising out of the revised ROE would, in our view, appear to be material, and we would ask that the detailed rate schedules and bill impacts be updated prior to cross-examination of panel 5.

Now, I am not sure whether Hydro One is in a position to do that.  As you indicated last week, Madam Chair, that's not something that can be done overnight or quickly.  It is a timely process.  But, in our submission, particularly in light of the fact that there will not be further evidence on the cost of capital itself, it is important that we have that information to assess the impact which the increased ROE will have on the various rates prior to the cross-examination of panel 5.

And so if Hydro One is not in a position to do that, to update that evidence, in a timely manner and provide it to intervenors with a reasonable -- in advance of January 11th, we would ask that there be a short delay of the commencement of panel 5 until we have that information.

Those are all of our submissions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Mr. Shepherd.  
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

It will come as no surprise -- I will be the one to say this, since I usually am.  It will come as no surprise to you my clients are not happy with the cost of capital report or how it unfolded, but this is neither the time nor the place to have that discussion, and we recognize that.

We've concluded that in light of the Board's ruling on Tuesday, we can't file evidence that would be useful to the Board in this proceeding.  There is no -- there's not a scope of evidence that would make -- be worth the money and the time to do it.  Therefore, we have concluded that we should not file evidence.

However, we are very concerned with the bill impacts and the impact on things like mitigation and other aspects of the application of this increase in revenue requirement.  We're estimating it is around $50 million, which is just a lot of money.  

And so we support the request from Mr. DeRose that some additional information be provided so that we can cross-examine panel 5 on this.

Those are our submissions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Crocker.
Submissions by Mr. Crocker:

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

When I came in this morning, I thought AMPCO's position was going to be different than the other intervenors, but after hearing the submissions of the others, I realize it is -- I can tell you it is not different.

We spent some time cross-examining panel 2, as did other intervenors, on customer impact, and our concern with respect to the cost of capital decision is that; that is, the bill impact and the customer impact and how Hydro One proposes to deal with that issue.

And so we support the position that Mr. DeRose has put to you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.

Mr. Millar, do you have any comments?
Submissions by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Only very briefly, Madam Chair.

Staff shares the concerns about bill impacts, and it occurs to me that had this report been released a little bit earlier than it was, there may have been questions for panel 2 on this issue, for example.  

It may well be that panel 5 can deal with these types of questions, but I guess I would leave it open to the company to ensure that there is someone available on panel 5 who can deal with overall rate impact type issues.

I think certainly all of the intervenors have those questions, and Staff may well have similar questions.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Rogers.
Submissions by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Panel 5 will be able to be able to deal with bill impact questions, I think.  As to the request to rerun all of the rates, the detailed rate schedules, I am instructed it is difficult to do.  It takes about at least two weeks to do it.

And the difficulty is over Christmas, I am not sure whether the resources will be available.  So if I could check and advise the Board after the break.  My client does understand the bill impact concerns as it has them itself obviously, and it will do its best to provide the best information it can to, before January 11th to the intervenors.  It may be possible to run these rate schedules, too.

MS. NOWINA:  Well, so you can give the right instructions when you leave here, Mr. Rogers.  The Board does want this information, we want the schedules, we want them refiled and we will -- and so if that can be done by January 11th, we will continue on January 11th.

If not, I take, I think Mr. DeRose's request, that we delay until they are filed.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  I think we will have somebody working over Christmas.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Then proceeding from that and so we have some clarity on that, perhaps before the end of the day today then -- and we can have a further discussion later in the day -- you can turn your mind to the argument schedule.  The first question about argument is when Hydro One would be prepared to do their argument-in-chief and all else would flow from that.

And we do believe that we can separate out the issue of the distribution benefit regarding the policy that's coming.  So aside from that, we will deal with that later.  But with the remainder of the case, when could you provide argument.  So if you would like to consider that, that would be helpful.

MR. ROGERS:  I will.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Then we will return to -- sorry, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I attended this morning only for the purpose of speaking to that.  I wonder if I might be excused and wish everyone a good holiday.

MS. NOWINA:  Same to you, Mr. Warren.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I would echo Mr. Warren's comments and also request leave to go to the Toronto Hydro case.

MS. NOWINA:  Here I thought you were starting your holiday early.

MR. CROCKER:  As do I, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  I see Mr. Crocker and -- and Mr. DeRose, are you leaving us as well?

MR. DeROSE:  Well, I will.  I have a little farther to go than my three colleagues that are leaving before me.  I would just ask one other clarification just because of the last exchange between yourself and Mr. Rogers.

If the detailed rate schedules are given to us on the morning of January 11th, in my submission, that's not helpful.

MS. NOWINA:  I have a lot of faith in Hydro One to understand what's required in terms of cross-examination.

MR. ROGERS:  Why would we be any different this time?  We will get them as soon as we can.


MR. DeROSE:  Fair enough, I'm not making any allegations about Hydro One.   Even if we could get it by the even the 7th or 8th, which is the Thursday or Friday before, I will work through the weekend to make sure we're ready.

MS. NOWINA:  If we don't have adequate time, we'll have to move the day, but I am sure Hydro One understands that.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.

All right.  Let's go to our schedule for panel 4.  Mr. -- oh, there you are.  I was afraid you had left and I was concerned.

All right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't have that kind of pull yet.

MS. NOWINA:  You can go ahead, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 4 OM&A AND CAPITAL, RESUMED

Paul Malozewski, Previously Sworn


Keith McDonell, Previously Sworn


Marc Villett, Previously Sworn


Michael Winters, Previously Sworn
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, panel.

I did prepare a small package of material that I might be referring to during the cross.  I provided this generally to -- I think it was on Tuesday.  I can probably get away without actually putting them on the record, but since I made copies I might as well do it.

MS. NOWINA:  Do we have it, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  There are copies up here for you.

MS. NOWINA:  We would like to follow along.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  It is, it would be described as four one-page excerpts from the application evidence in EB-2008-0272.

MR. MILLAR:  We will call that Exhibit K8.1, Madam Chair.  
EXHIBIT NO. K8.1: FOUR ONE-PAGE EXCERPTS FROM THE APPLICATION EVIDENCE IN EB-2008-0272 PLUS THREE ONE-PAGE EXCERPTS FROM THE APRIL 2009 AND OCTOBER 2009 RPP PRICE REPORTS

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Plus it also includes three one-page excerpts from the April 2009 and October 2009 RPP price reports.  As well as -- three copies or three pages from the RPP price reports.

MS. NOWINA:  We're calling the whole package K8.1.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I have to tell the panel, I gave them page references.  I actually produced the entire exhibits and then gave page references.

And I did not -- I accidentally left out one page reference.  If you look at page 3 of the package, I might be referring to page 16 of 30 of Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 6.  And just the one number.  Just to situate the number that, in the 2008-0272 transmission case relative to what was applied for here.  I apologize for that omission.

I don't think it will hurt you in your answers.

So with that, and I am going to start with that sort of material, basically -- well starting with Exhibit H, tab 137, I you were asked about the comparability of the 2010 shared service cost for the last transmission proceeding and you stated and I highlighted it on the exhibit.

That a comparison of the 2010 total and 2010 distribution allocation amounts between the transmission and distribution cases was not meaningful.

And my understanding is that that is because in several cases, responsibility was transferred out of the one area and into another and vice versa.  Is that generally what happened?

MR. VILLETT:  With this, some of the costs -- some of the questioning yesterday some of these costs are direct.  They're not all allocated.  I think that's part of the answer that we discussed here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But at a basic level, all other things being equal, one of the problems is that some of the components that were included under certain headings in the transmission case no longer exist under those headings.  They were moved somewhere else; right?

I am going to go through some of the details, but that's happened and that makes it harder to compare.

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So I am going to go to some of the specific areas and talk about what was moved out from one area to another and then see what was left and then based on that number figure out what was the driver for the change between the two forecasts.  Okay.

I am going to start with asset management.  In the transmission proceeding, the total Networks costs for 2010 was projected to be $131 million and that's at C1, tab 2, schedule 8 of the EB-2008-0272 proceeding which is at page 4 of K8.1.  You can see why I put it here, it was just to ground you in what was there, and that is about the only thing we're going to use this document for.  It was highlighted at the bottom here, so for the test year total asset management function cost was $131 million.  Do you see that?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then in the current proceeding, the same projection under the same heading for 2010, the forecast costs are at Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 44, of $137.7 million.

I will pull that up.  Is that correct?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You can see I have highlighted 2010 and the total cost of 137.7.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which is an increase of $6.7 million; right?  Subject to check.  It's simple math.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And first maybe you can confirm, and I know this from Exhibit H1, 51, that this 2010 value we're looking at here reflects the transfer of $5.2 million associated with information assets department to the IT area, effective 2010.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me, with respect to the transmission evidence on the same area where we had a figure of $131 million for 2010, did that figure reflect this transfer of the IT costs or are they still embedded in the transmission evidence?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  They would still be embedded.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now -- thank you.

Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 62, part (b), which I will pull up for you, breaks out the GEA, Green Energy Act, portion of this area of costs, and it is shown here to be an impact of $6.2 million.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, that's correct.  That's what it shows.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I am calculating the difference between the two, between the transmission number and the distribution number, in this way:  The transmission number was $131 million, but did not reflect the transfer out of the IT, and so to reflect that transfer out of the IT to make it comparable to the distribution number, you would have to take the $5.2 million out of the $131 million that was included in the transmission case; and then you would take that $5.2 million difference and you add 6.7, which is the Green Energy Act impacts, and you get a total difference between the 2010 transmission forecast and the 2010 distribution forecast for the total costs -- you get a difference of $11.9 million.  Does that sound right?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That's about correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So obviously as we have gone through, 6.7 of that is attributable to the Green Energy Act impacts on the distribution costs -- sorry, on the filing, on the forecast, but can you tell me what accounts for the remaining $5.7 million increase?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, I can help you with that.

The asset management overall cost is, as we spoke of earlier, driven by the very same factors as the increased work program in other areas.  So asset management is at the beginning of the work delivery chain.

The asset management group is predominantly there to plan the work that is required to be done, and the main areas driving that increase of work, which we have stated before is increase in sustainment requirements, increase in development requirements.

Certainly a portion of that is green energy and growth in volume and complexity of regulatory and legislative changes driving work.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, you have already spoken obviously about the Green Energy Act a few times and the fact that between the time that the transmission evidence was filed -- and looking at the exhibit, you can see that this particular table was updated February 13th, 2009.  

So between at least February 13, 2009 and the time in which you filed the distribution version of the same information, the Green Energy Act was new, and it was something that you wouldn't have forecast in the transmission case; correct?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  No, that's not correct.

The Green Energy Act, certainly as an act, is new, but some of the work, the nature of the work that is now under the umbrella of green energy, existed before that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, maybe I was being a little imprecise.  You have already said in -- you have already explained part of the difference, i.e., $6.7 million, between the two cases being attributable to the impact of the Green Energy Act.

That's how I understood that.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And what I am trying to get at and what I am going to ask you, you mentioned other factors that caused the remaining $5.7 million increase.  What I am trying to find out is:  Which of those factors arose between February 13th, 2009, when the transmission case was filed, and the time when you filed this case in the distribution case?  

I understand that those are all -- you have talked about a number of factors, and I understand they're all factors that drive the cost, but as between what you knew in the transmission case and what you know now in the few months in between the two filings, what arose, other than the Green Energy Act, which I think has already been accounted for.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  To be clear, what's different is that the transmission case was based on the previous business plan.

This application is based on a new business plan, so they emerge from two different business plans.  So we have entirely refreshed and new information that is embedded in this application as compared to the transmission application, which is based on the last business plan.  

So it is not just one thing that has come about that's different.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So there is no -- unlike the Green Energy Act impact, which you have been able to at least put some number on, $6.7 million, the rest of it is attributable to a general refreshing of the evidence based on a new business plan?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That's correct.  I also would caution that although we did put some numbers down for green energy, these are, again, very, very high-level and very broad-brush guesstimates, as well.  

It is very difficult to try to segment this out, even though we have tried to do that to be helpful.  It's extremely broad brush.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

At C1, tab 2, schedule 8, page 8 of this application, it talks about some of the drivers in this area.

Specifically, I am interested in the driver I have highlighted on the screen, which is an increase in the number of requests for generation applications requiring connection impact assessments.

Well, first of all, just to make sure I've got that right, that is one of the things that drives costs in this area?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are those costs all recoverable 
from -- at all recoverable from generators through fees or charges?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  The question of generation connection, I believe, was dealt with by panel 1, and I am really not in a position to comment on recoverability.

I can speak to the work.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I think you can see why I am asking.  It says -- you're saying here that the connection impact assessments are driving the costs in this area, but you are telling me you can't tell me whether those connection impact assessments are charged at all to the customer, in whole or in part?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.  Just one moment.

Yes, I can tell you that the generation connection studies are covered by external revenue, and you would find that information in Exhibit E1, tab 2, schedule 1 under "Unregulated Revenues", "DX Generation Studies".

MR. BUONAGURO:  This part of it I am not as quick as Mr. Thiessen.

I don't have a separate mouse.  E1, tab 2, schedule 1?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, where did you say it was?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  So it is under "Unregulated Revenues" down below, and there is a line item that is "DX Generation Studies", and you can see in 2010 and '11 there is $3.2 million set for that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  Does that work in this way, then, that you include the costs of doing the connection assessments in the total costs for the asset management area of spending, and then they're offset in here by recovery from the generator?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

I am going to look at now the CCFS costs.  And we know from Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 7, that the 2010 costs in this area of spending are $103 million; correct?

MR. VILLETT:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And we know from the transmission application that the equivalent area of costs was claimed for 2010 at $96.8 million and that is at page 2 of K8.1.

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  For a difference of $6.2 million.

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, your response to Board Staff interrogatory Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 51, notes a transfer of the functions between finance and IT, accounting for $7.2 million of the year-over-year changes CCFS costs.

So I will just pull that up for you.

Were those changes also reflected in the 2010 forecast in the transmission application we just looked at?

MR. VILLETT:  No, they wouldn't have been reflected in the transmission.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if we take the existing difference of $6.2 million and we adjust the 2010 by backing out the -- sorry, the transmission 2010 number by backing out the $7.2 million in transfers we get a figure of 13.4 million being the difference between the 2010 forecast in the transmission case and the 2010 forecast in the distribution case.  Does that sound right?

MR. VILLETT:  It sounds right, subject to check.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Certainly, thank you.

Now, again the application, IR responses, there are various reference toss how the Green Energy Act is impacting on the 2010 CCFS costs, a factor that would not have been present in the transmission case, at least not to the full extent; correct?

MR. VILLETT:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I would like to understand if this -- if the Green Energy Act is the only reason for the increase in the 2010 costs reflected in the distribution filing versus the transmission filing.

And to help with this, I am going to refer you to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 7, page 2 which talks about the various reasons why 2009, the 2009 forecast is higher than the 2008 and then goes on to say why the 2010 forecast is higher than 2009.  Do you see that?  Starting at line 6.

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was wondering if you could go through this and identify the factors driving costs up for your 2010 forecast that weren't present when you did the transmission filing, so that are new between the transmission filing and the distribution filing, to explain the $13.4 million increase in the base budget.

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, I can do that.

I think it is probably easier if I go through each section and talk about the changes in each section.

So if we start with corporate management.  We did talk about that a little bit yesterday.  And in our IR response we referred to the special advisor position, but I did also advise that there was offsetting savings elsewhere in the asset management area as a result of not replacing a VP and admin assistant.

If we go to --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  Can you explain why that wouldn't have been captured in the transmission filing?  It may be simple but just for the record, if you can tell me why that wouldn't have been known in the transmission filing.

MR. VILLETT:  The changes happened after the transmission filing would have been done.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. VILLETT:  So if we move on to finance.  As you noted, enablement was part of finance previously in the transmission filing.  So it was moved to IT.  So that was a reduction.

Financial strategy, a portion of that department was also transferred into our IT.

Outsourcing services was transferred to corporate communications.

So that accounts for the factors decreasing the finance costs.  There were some -- there were some increases that partially offset those decreases.  We do have increased costs related to pension valuations and internal control services as well as some higher insurance costs and some increased costs due to suck says planning.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  If I can just pause there.  That sounds similar to the answer I got in the last category which is that those are -- those don't sound like specific items of increase.  Those are refreshed views of those costs?

MR. VILLETT:  Well, again, as Mr. Malozewski pointed out, the two filings were done based on different business plans, the transmission, the 2009 to '13 and this application, the '10 to '14 so certain circumstances did change and I tried to outline those here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Sorry, I can't tell if I interrupted you or whether there is more.

MR. VILLETT:  I was done with finance.  So if you want me to go on to the next?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, sure.

MR. MCDONELL:  I could talk a little bit about the HR increases but I think I spoke about that yesterday.  Do you have any specific questions about that?  Since the transmission file we included eight additional employees to deal with the work program growth in human resources as a result of the higher increase of our employee base, plus there have been a number of specific programs that we have included, like the development of an assessment tool for our apprentices, an increase usage of an assessment tool for when we hire additional staff.

As well, I spoke yesterday about a relationship that we have developed with a vendor to help us with our external recruitment.  So that would be the additional costs that were found in the transmission file.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's because none of those activities were contemplated at that time?

MR. MCDONELL:  Some of them weren't contemplated and some of them have increased since the transmission file.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Okay.  I am going to move on to the IT costs.  And 2010 forecast in the distribution case are found at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 9, page 1, at $149.8 million.

MR. WINTERS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And the transmission total IT costs in EB-2008-0272 at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 9 page 1, appear in K8.1, on the first page, at $118.6 million; correct?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And we've talked about the transfers and I think the transfers can be summarized between areas.  IT absorbed about $12.4 million.  So various functions were transferred to IT and I think it totals out to about $12.4 million.

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.  As laid out in interrogatory H1-51, that's the number.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Can you tell me if those transfers were reflected in the 2010 transmission?  I am assuming not?

MR. WINTERS:  No, they were not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Which means that the actual difference between the two applications, once you account for the transfer of responsibilities, is $18.8 million, subject to check?

MR. WINTERS:  Subject to check.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you describe the main contributors to that $18.8 million increase between the two transmission -- between the transmission filing and the distribution filing?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, I can.

And it isn't in one -- so we have already talked about IT management and project control, so if I take you to the three categories above that within the 2008 transmission evidence that you provided, you will see that there are mainly increases across sustainment, as well as development.  

We do have a nominal increase in business telecom, but if I focus on the first two, and if you wish to ask me other questions on business telecom I can definitely address that.

Within sustainment, in our transmission hearing there was 81.3.  In our current hearing, it is 92.7.

The main contributors to that increase -- a number of factors, some of it SAP driven, both infrastructure, as well as the application management of it.


So from an infrastructure standpoint, the actual costs and the complexity of the environments that we had to build were more than what we had anticipated from a high availability, disaster recovery, number of environments needed to support.  So that drove to increased costs in that area.  

From an overall application management, just keeping the system going represented an additional cost increase.

There are some other areas, some other applications that we had to factor in from an application management standpoint, as well as growth in various software licensing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I just want to --

MR. WINTERS:  So those are the main contributors to the sustainment area.

To the development area, you will notice in the transmission filing it was 5.6, and increased to 10.6 within our current filing.  Those are actually laid out.  The projects that contribute to the 10.6 are laid out in interrogatory H-1-48.  

If you have any -- that actually lists them.  I believe there are six to eight projects and it gives a summary of each of those projects.  I could talk you through those, or you could sort of take those as read.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And those are all projects that - I don't know what the right word is - came into fruition after the transmission case was filed?

MR. WINTERS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  I am going to take you to -- maybe I don't have to.

You spent some time talking about the corporate communications increase.  Perhaps we will look at the exhibit, Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 20.

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's the -- it shows a total in 2010 of $12.5 million, and on the transmission case -- and this is the reference I forgot to make you specifically aware of.

It is at page 3 of K8.1, the equivalent number in the C1, tab 2, schedule 6, page 16 of 30 of the EB-2008-0272 application filing, the $6.8 million.

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which is a difference of 5.7 million, subject to check?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, subject to check.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now -- thank you.

Now, I think I can conclude that one of the reasons for the increase is the transfer of outsourcing to corporate communications, which accounts for about 3.5 million?

MR. VILLETT:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding, from what we heard yesterday, is that -- maybe I am overstating it.  Perhaps you can tell me.  Is the rest primarily due to increased costs for consultation?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

And at Exhibit H, tab 10, schedule 35, you talk about the need for increased consultation.

Can you tell me -- I don't want to go over what was gone through yesterday, but I am interested in a couple of points.  Can you tell me if the consultation we're talking about, this increase in consultation needs, is that primarily transmission or distribution or both?

What kind of a split are you talking about?

MR. VILLETT:  It is both.  There are activities that the First Nations and Metis department does for both transmission and distribution, and that is reflected in the cost allocation.  I believe 62 percent of the costs would go to TX and 38 percent for D.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  You anticipated my question.

Can you tell me, in terms of how that allocation is arrived at, do you specifically separate out the Metis and First Nations consultation, and then directly attribute them to the projects they're -- the specific projects, distribution or transmission?

MR. VILLETT:  So the allocation is determined through the Black and Veatch cost allocation methodology.  So the First Nations and Metis department would be provided a template to update.  As part of that process, our consultant from Black and Veatch comes in; as part of his process, would talk to the heads of the departments to ensure that the allocations provided are accurate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it is done as part of the overall allocation, but the people doing the consulting are running through their -- your allocation model and this is the result?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Okay, I am switching to a new topic altogether.

I am going to refer you to Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 10.  This is a VECC interrogatory where you were asked about financial service fees.

In this particular interrogatory, at (a) we asked you about the reduction in fees payable by Hydro One Inc. for 2010 as filed in the last transmission case versus the current application.  The response was that the reduced fees reflected a lower assessment of taxation service support.

The simple question is whether you could explain what tax support you used to receive, but no longer will receive from Networks that led to this lower assessment?

MR. VILLETT:  I don't have the specifics with me of what the difference would be in services.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Perhaps we can do that by way of undertaking, to describe the reduction in services represented by the response in Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 10(a).

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J8.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.1:  TO DESCRIBE THE REDUCTION IN SERVICES REPRESENTED BY THE RESPONSE IN EXHIBIT H, TAB 7, SCHEDULE 10(a)

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Another different topic.

I am going to turn up Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 44, which I think we have had a peek at already today.

And subject to check, and looking through this table, would you agree that, for the years 2010 and 2011, the proportion of costs assigned to distribution is 49.6 percent and 49.7 percent, respectively?  Just a shade under 50, basically, again?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And looking at 2008 where the total costs were $100.3 million, we take that $100.3 million and go back up a schedule to schedule 43.  We can see on this table that the distribution asset management cost for 2008 were $41.1 million, which, relative to the 100.3 million total costs that we saw in schedule 44, we get an allocation about 41 percent to distribution.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain, in this particular context or in this particular area of spending, what's driving the allocation from 41 percent to 49 percent.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, I can.

Yesterday, I mentioned that we had undertaken a cost allocation update, Black & Veatch update.  Part of that is an asset management time study update.

So we undertook that earlier in 2009.  And we found a shift from Transmission to Distribution, and what you are seeing there is the result of the application of that shift.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  What I am looking for is a little more detail about -- I can understand that the cost allocation model, you run the cost allocation model and then the change in activities, in the different areas will result in a different allocation.  But I don't think 
I've -- maybe you could give me an example or a description of what activities are driving that change.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  I can tell you that in both the T and the D side of the business in asset management, the overall work has gone up.

It has gone up proportionally a bit more on the distribution side and that would be driven by predominantly the large volume of relatively small projects, planning for those projects that are distributed generation connection.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to make sure I understand, the -- you mentioned the -- a large number of small volume -- sorry, a large volume of small projects is driving more costs to distribution than in the past.  In the recent past at least.  That's what that sounds like to me.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

I am going to -- I have just a couple of questions here on benchmarking.

Looking at Exhibit A, tab 16, schedule 1.  You discuss here how the unit costs are used as an indicator of productivity.

And how you compare yourselves with other utilities.

Is it fair to say that one of the objectives of this comparison is to track your performance over time relative to other utilities and determine if you are improving relative to them?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  There's a number of objectives that Hydro One is in the process of balancing.  And it is captured in our balanced corporate score card.

One of the dimensions is clearly productivity, but the balanced score card speaks to overall effectiveness.

So we do track a number of dimensions, one of which, in the context of the overall balanced score card, is productivity.  And in tracking and in benchmarking, the predominant goal of benchmarking is to try to understand, from other companies, the things that they do that perhaps maybe we could learn from, maybe we could adopt, modify, that would improve our situation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am not sure if you answered the simpler part of my question, which is -- I understand there is a multitude of objectives.  Is one of them to look at your performance over time relative to these other utilities, and determine if you are improving relative to them?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now can you turn up Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 7, part (d), which I will put on the screen for you.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Part?

MR. BUONAGURO:  D.

And we asked here about the pure utilities that you are using for comparison purposes.

And the answer states that the pool of utilities used changes from year to year.  And what we were wondering is, if this is the case, how useful are year-over-year comparisons of your performance relative to the other utilities, if the comparators are changing annually?

Perhaps you could speak to that issue.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That's correct.  That is an ongoing challenge for Hydro One.

We participate annually in several benchmarking activities that occur and in any one year there could be companies that, in previous years would have participated, have chosen not to participate.  So we do find that challenge.  However, we do try to compare ourselves to the greatest extent possible to utilities that are as like-for-like as Hydro One.

So even though they may fall -- some companies may fall in and out of the benchmarking pool in any one year, we hope that it does provide some guidance as to whether Hydro One is, is on track for improvement, or not.

The other challenge, of course, being that as we are attempting to improve specifically in the area of productivity, other companies are doing the same thing.  So it is constantly a shifting target.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

I am moving on to another topic.  And I am going to start with Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 95.

And here, in part (b) of this interrogatory, we asked about revenues related to new connections and upgrades and you indicated that the revenues shown in the references we make, does not include work done for generator connections.  That's at part (b) right here.  And we wanted some clarification.  For 2010 and 2011, are you telling us that there is no revenue reported because you are assuming that no work will be done for generator connections, apart from what is required on the Hydro One Networks side of the connection?  Or that you will do work for generators but the revenue is reported elsewhere?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.  I can help you with that.  We've already spoken about the connection impact assessment so there is revenue -- external revenue related to that.

We have not indicated external revenue for actual connection.  We understand that the amendment to the Distribution System Code excluded that recovery of that from external revenue.  And I believe panel one would have spoken to that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So is this -- I am thinking back to my cross before.  Is this the $2 million in capital contributions that would change?  


Let me ask it this way.  Sorry.  So I guess your simple answer is according to the new Distribution System Code your interpretation of it, you don't get to charge for that work?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  As external revenue.

MR. BUONAGURO:  As external revenue, okay.

And can you tell me if that applies to work done for assets actually owned by the generator, i.e., if you are doing work on the generator's assets, is there also no revenue reported for that?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  I don't know the answer to that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Perhaps we can do that by way of undertaking.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J8.2.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.2:  ADVISE WHETHER REVENUE IS REPORTED FOR WORK DONE ON ASSETS OWNED BY THE GENERATOR

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we talked about generation studies previously and you gave me an answer about the, where the revenues are; I guess for the connection assessments.  Do generators have to be a specific size before a study is undertaken and revenues are received?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Again, I believe panel 1 would have spoken to that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Well, I am going to try to just round off some of these questions, and if I have actually completely missed it, you will let me know.

Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 2, page 10 -- and over to page 10, and you have a table here describing the volume of generation studies completed with a forecast for 2010 and 2011?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And under the description, you say that the numbers are expected to go down as studies have been completed on the preferred sites; correct.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  I believe that -- that statement is merely annotating what you see in the table.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Which, from the levels of 2009, you do see a decrease.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  So that is merely a narrative to that effect.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you me if these volumes reflect the impact of the new FIT and microFIT OPA programs, which could change the economics for some of what were previously less preferred sites? 

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  I believe this is based on the latest information, including FIT and microFIT.

MR. BUONAGURO:  To be fair, I think latest not including what was announced earlier this week, I think.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right?  Okay.

So can you tell me how the decline in studies is consistent with the view that the interest in renewable generation will increase, or is forecast to increase in 2010 and 2011?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  I don't have that information.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you want to do that one by way of undertaking?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J8.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.2:  TO PROVIDE RESPONSE TO HOW THE DECLINE IN STUDIES IS CONSISTENT WITH THE VIEW THAT INTEREST IN RENEWABLE GENERATION IS FORECAST TO INCREASE IN 2010 AND 2011.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Just doing a time check to find out when the Panel would like to take a break.

MS. NOWINA:  Any time now, Mr. Buonaguro.  So you just want to find a logical spot?

MR. BUONAGURO:  That would be a logical spot.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will take a 15-minute break.

--- Recess taken at 10:06 a.m. 

--- On resuming at 10:25 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Do you have something for us, Mr. Rogers?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. ROGERS:  Yes are, if I can just inform the Board, Madam Chair, that I have spoken to my client over the break and I believe work is underway now, as a matter of fact, and we hope to have those schedules for you the week before we reappear.  Sometime during that week.  As soon as they're available, we will distribute them.

MS. NOWINA:  Good, thank you, Mr. Rogers.

Mr. Buonaguro.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro (continued):


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

I am turning up on the screen here Exhibit H, tab 7, Exhibit 67.  Attachment 1.  It's a very detailed breakdown of staffing information.

Okay?  Okay?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, I have that.  Sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Now, for 2008 it shows 4,714 regular employees for year end.

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And another --

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, can either you or the witnesses tell us what we're looking at first.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  I'm going to -- I will blow it up here.  So this is 2008 figures, and I will just blow up the part that we're looking at here.

So this shows the 2008 figures across the board for all of the different categories of employees and then relevant wage information; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the numbers I am interested for the moment are, for 2008 you have total regular employees of 4,714.

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And another, if you add up the total temp and the casual, you get a total of 1,833 additional employees.

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  For a total complement which is on the table of 6,547 for 2008.

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct, for 2008, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now for clarification, when it says here 4,714 for regular employees, is that the actual number employed?  Or is it a number of approved positions some of which may be vacant?

MR. MCDONELL:  Your question I think is the 4,714, was that the actual number employed?  Yes, that is an actual year-end head count, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So it is not positions.  It is actual --

MR. MCDONELL:  Headcount.

MR. BUONAGURO:  At the year-end?

MR. MCDONELL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

What we have totalled at 1,833 temporary and casual employees, are they all full time or are some of them part-time?

MR. MCDONELL:  Some of them would be part-time, and with the casual number, the 1,597, that would be a combination of PWU hired hall as well construction employees from our building trade unions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then nobody can see that, so...

MR. MCDONELL:  I sure can't.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now I am going to ask you some questions about the forecasts beyond 2008, so the forecasts here for 2009 to 2011.

When you're talking about regular employee numbers being forecast, is that, is there an assumption that all of the positions are filled?  Or is there an allowance for vacancies?

MR. MCDONELL:  For which years?

MR. BUONAGURO:  For 2009, 10 and 11.

MR. MCDONELL:  Those are our anticipated head count levels.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  When you say "anticipated head count levels," does that take -- first of all, I am assuming you have a number of approved "positions."


MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then you have a forecast of how many of those positions will actually be filled?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  We anticipate that we will be filling those numbers, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Is there any accounting for vacancies?  Or is it, are you assuming that all of the positions are going to be filled?

MR. MCDONELL:  We are assuming that all of those positions will be filled.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And that's for 2009 through to 2011, I presume?

MR. MCDONELL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So to be clear, do these numbers have to be adjusted at all for vacancies or does the increase show the number of new positions planned by the company?

MR. MCDONELL:  I am not sure I understand what your reference to vacancies is.  This is our projected head count levels at year end for 2009, 10 and 11.  So this is our anticipated levels that we will be hiring to.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Maybe it is a nuance but I want to make sure I understand what the number represents.

There would be a difference, for example, between how many positions you want to hire for and how many positions you will be able to hire for and therefore, it may forecast the inability to hire for some of the positions in which case there would be a gap between what you want to do and what you actually do.  I want to know if this table incorporates that gap and gives us what you will be able to do versus what you want to do.

MR. MCDONELL:  This table reflects what we believe that we will be hiring to, in each of these years.  Sometimes, yes, there is a little bit of a timing issue.

For instance at the year-end 2008, I think we were shy approximately 60 or 70 positions.  We didn't fill to by the end of 2008.  But those staff came on early in 2009.  So it is a little bit of a timing issue.  We get there.  It might be early into the next quarter before we actually get those jobs actually filled.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So subject to some timing issues, these are the positions that you forecast needing and also filling over the test years.

MR. MCDONELL:  I can agree with that, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Perhaps you can take it subject to check and then I don't have to blow up everything, but straight math would suggest the increase in regular positions from 2008 to 2011 is 1,339.

MR. MCDONELL:  That's total head count?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  Regular positions only.  6,053 in 2011 mines 4,714 in 2008 would get you -- I can scroll down to show you the numbers -- so for 2011 here you've got 6,053.  Now it just looks like a big number.


MR. SOMERVILLE:  Editorial liberty.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Minus the 1,014 number we started off with for regular positions.

MR. MCDONELL:  My math says between -- maybe we're not talking about the same years, but between 2009 and 2011 we're increasing by 868 regular employees.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I was starting from 2008.  Maybe I misspoke.

MR. MCDONELL:  If you add that on, subject to check.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you roughly tell me what the breakdown of that increased staffing number is between head office staff and field staff?  That would be the 1,339 increase over the 2008 to 2011 period.

MR. MCDONELL:  Between head office and field?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. MCDONELL:  I don't have that information with me.  Let me just think of whether or not how difficult that would be to get.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me tell you, I have three sort of categories of that type of question, so this is what I am looking for and perhaps you can tell me how hard it is going to be.

So the breakdown between head office staff and field staff, and then for the field staff, the field function that requires the largest increase in regular staff.  So within the field portion of that 1,339, what activity is attracting the most new heads, if I can put it that way.

Then similar for the head office, what head office functions are attracting the largest increases in staff over that period.

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  All of my work is really broken down by the representation group and I have numbers by business unit.  I am a little bit concerned about the ability to break it down by head office, but perhaps we can look into that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I would like that undertaking.

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, yes, the utility will do its best to provide that information.  It should be available I think in some form that's suitable.

MR. MILLAR:  J8.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.4:  TO PROVIDE the breakdown of increased staffing between head office staff and field staff over the 2008 to 2011 period.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I guess the part that this panel can't specifically deal with is tying the head count to the function, so that's what I am assuming is going to be added through the undertaking.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I mean, they can talk to other people to get the information.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Great.  Thank you.

Now, what we noticed in looking at these numbers -- starting with the increase in regular staff from 2008 to 2011, which we just talked about, the percentage increase that that 1,339 regular staff increase represents is a 20 percent -- 28 percent increase.  Can you take that subject to check?

MR. MCDONELL:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the corresponding increase in casual and temporary staff over the same period, we calculate to be approximately 128 percent which, if -- to do the math, you would take the 2008 figure of total temp 236, plus casual of 1,597, for a total of 1,833.

And you would calculate the percentage increase relative to the 2011 figures, which are total temp 313, plus casual of 3,000 -- 3,879.

MR. MCDONELL:  I understand your math, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you explain why there's such a large increase in casual and temporary staffing?

MR. MCDONELL:  This goes to part of our flexible resourcing strategy that we have at Hydro One, where we take a look at the work that is required to be done, and then we determine what best way to accomplish the work.

So always at our disposal we have the ability to hire regular employees, temporary employees, where possible PWU hiring hall and building trade unions.

So the increase in the casual is going to be reflected by more of a reliance on using our PWU hiring hall and our building trade unions to do the type of work that they are able to perform for us.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  This is similar to my earlier question, so you may have trouble with it.  In terms of what types of work are driving that, your answer suggests that it is a general policy applied generally across all of the types of work that Hydro One does.

But is it true or is it possibly true there are specific types of work activity that are attracting this part-time and casual labour?

MR. MCDONELL:  If you are talking about the temporary employees and, in particular, the casual employees, where you would be talking about trades work, because that is where -- the PWU hiring hall and the building trade unions, that is the work that they do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And is it with respect to particular types of projects?  The obvious example would be:  Is the drive primarily because of green energy-type projects, for example?

MR. MCDONELL:  I wouldn't say it is primarily that.  It would be part of your overall construction and maintenance of our system.  Part of it would be green energy, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Before I leave this spreadsheet, I just want to quantify a number here.  Can we agree that - and I will take you to the numbers in a second - the increase in the total staff from 2009 to 2011 is 37 percent?  So that would be taking -- 

MR. MCDONELL:  That number I can verify, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You can?

MR. MCDONELL:  I can, yes.  That is a total increase in head count between '9 and '11.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So for people following along, it is the total of, for 2009, 7,546 relative to the total figure of 2011 of 10,245.

Now I am going to turn up Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 9.  You can see I have highlighted a section here from the exhibit where you talk about:
"For the period 2009-2011, the total Networks (Transmission and Distribution) work program is expected to increase by over 33% whereas the regular staff increase is expected to increase by approximately 16%."


MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What I wanted to ask you was:  Why is it that regular staff would be the appropriate comparison?  If one is trying to get a handle on efficiency, why wouldn't you be looking at the total staff increase of, as we just agreed, 37 percent relative to the 33 percent increase in work programs?

MR. MCDONELL:  What we're trying to demonstrate with this particular paragraph is that our work program is increasing by 33 percent, but yet, due to the resourcing strategy that we have, that we are only increasing our regular complement by 16 percent.

So, in other words, we're taking advantage of a flexible strategy to resource the other work through means that don't join our regular complement, and, by virtue of that, they are going to be less expensive, because they won't be -- for instance, be joining our pension and benefit programs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  But would you agree, then, though, if you are trying to do a comparison of the work program versus the resources necessary to do it, you would have to, at least in some way, include the fact that you were hiring upwards of --

MR. MCDONELL:  Thirty-seven percent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, 37 percent total heads.

MR. MCDONELL:  I would agree with you that the head count is going up by 37 percent.  But the point that we're trying to make there is that we are being efficient in how we're doing our resourcing by only increasing our regular complement by 16 percent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.

New topic.  I am going to start with Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 58.  And this basically -- mostly for reference, but this talks about the change in billing frequency from bimonthly to monthly for approximately 140,000 acquired customers starting in 2010.

In relation to that, I am going to pull up another exhibit, Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 4, attachment 1, page 6, which I will pull up on the screen.

And this is an excerpt from the report, the Navigant Consulting report, that is appended as attachment 1 to Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 4, and it talks about retail revenue lag.  Do you see that?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have a couple of short questions.  First, would it be fair to say that this move in the Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 58, of 140,000 customers from bimonthly to monthly billing will reduce the retail revenue lag for these customers?

MR. VILLETT:  Just give me one second to get that other interrogatory.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  The one I just referred to?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  H-1-58.

MR. VILLETT:  Can you just repeat the question you had?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  Would it be fair to say that the move to monthly billing for these 140,000 customers will reduce the retail revenue lag for those customers?  So you are showing here on this Exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 4, attachment 1, page 6, you are showing a retail revenue lag of 72.19 days, for example.  And that would be based on bimonthly billing and the fact that -- what we're asking is moving 140,000 customers from bimonthly to monthly billing we would assume would have an effect on their retail revenue lag, and we are asking you to confirm that.  

MR. WINTERS:  I am going to take a stab at this question and --just to make sure -- it is obviously not my area of expertise but let me see if I can field it based with my past with billing systems.  The service lag you're seeing there is 21 days which is a typical month.  If you look right below it, the service lag when the company provides service and when the meter is read.  So that is already a 21-day period and it doesn't represent a bimonthly period. The billing lag is then the time it takes us to actually put them through their billing window, generate the bill, and for them to receive the bill and then we typically provide up to 30 days to -- or 32 days to collect.

So that represents a typical monthly cycle, if I am reading this graph correctly, and not a bimonthly cycle.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  You prefaced it with saying it is a "stab" but what I am understanding is based on your review of this, there would be no effect on the retail revenue lag?

MR. WINTERS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

Did you want to confirm that with someone who ...

MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear the question but I can say I want to confirm it, the answer.  I don't know what the question was but I want to check the answer and I will let you know.


MS. NOWINA:  I thought you personally were confirming it without checking.

MR. ROGERS:  No.  No.  That would be very dangerous but I will advise the Board.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Why don't I --

MR. ROGERS:  These witnesses aren't really informed on this detail.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have another question similar so why don't I bundle them together and we can get the right person to answer it.  So the first question is:  Whether the migration of 140,000 customers from bimonthly to monthly billing as described in Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 58, would have -- well, will reduce the retail revenue lag for those customers, and if so whether that change has been factored into the working capital calculations.  Then the second part, for brevity, I can skip ahead and tell you, in Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 59, that particular exhibit talks about migration to automated meter reading over 2010 to 2011 period.

And we're asking the similar question:  Would that also decrease revenue lag relative to the previous practice of manual meter reading by allowing data to get into the billing system faster and, if so, whether that change has been factored into the working capital calculations.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. NOWINA:  Take an undertaking?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then if the question is no it 
hasn't -- yes, it has an effect, but no, it hasn't been worked into the working capital, to do the calculation.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J8.5.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.5:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THE MIGRATION OF 140,000 CUSTOMERS FROM BIMONTHLY TO MONTHLY BILLING AS DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT H, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 58, WILL REDUCE THE RETAIL REVENUE LAG FOR THOSE CUSTOMERS, AND IF SO WHETHER THAT CHANGE HAS BEEN FACTORED INTO THE WORKING CAPITAL CALCULATIONS. PART 2:  WOULD THAT ALSO DECREASE REVENUE LAG RELATIVE TO THE PREVIOUS PRACTICE OF MANUAL METER READING BY ALLOWING DATA TO GET INTO THE BILLING SYSTEM FASTER AND, IF SO, WHETHER THAT CHANGE HAS BEEN FACTORED INTO THE WORKING CAPITAL CALCULATIONS OVER THE 2010 AND 2011 PERIOD.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The cross goes very quickly if I just do them by undertaking.

I have a couple of questions on the wholesale price used for non-RPP customers.

You were asked yesterday by Mr. Faye to recalculate the working capital based on the newly released October RPP prices, do you recall that undertaking?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it was J7.1.  So just, I had a couple of questions and you will see in my package at 8.1 I included some excerpts from the RPP forecasts.  First of all, I don't think I have to go through them but to ask more generally.  First of all, he has asked you to do the recalculation based on the October figures, but I don't think we have Hydro One's position on whether that updated calculation is the one that should be used in the application.

Can you provide me some information on that?

MR. ROGERS:  The answer is "no."

MR. BUONAGURO:  So although you are providing the updated calculation the company's position is that the calculation that is in the application should stand?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  In accordance with past practice.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

In the original calculation we noticed that for non-RPP volumes -- and this is set out in Exhibit H, tab 3, schedule 23(d) and I will put it up for you -- we noticed for the non-RPP volume you have used a price of 63.88.

Which we believe reflects the forecast value from last April for the hourly Ontario energy price plus the billable adjustment; is that correct?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And can you confirm that the forecast we're talking about is based on the HOEP forecast for the six-month period from May 2010 to October 2010?  I have included the excerpt I think we used.

If you look at say the last page in K8.1, it is our understanding that you used the 49.62 figure to calculate -- calculate the non-RPP volumes.

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Plus the global adjustment from the April forecast; correct?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And we noticed that whereas you're using the six-month forecast for that, you used the 12-month forecast for the RPP.  We are wondering why you wouldn't use the 12-month forecast that is included in the page I just showed you, in the same way that you used the 12-month forecasts for the RPP price.  So if you were to use the 12-month forecast, you wouldn't use 49.62 you would use 44.88.  Is there a specific reason why you wouldn't have used the 44.88 figure?

MR. VILLETT:  The reason we didn't use the 44.88 figure is that it includes -- it was an average that went back and included periods in 2009 and we felt the 2010 periods would be more relevant to the application before the Board.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In that event, why wouldn't you include the values forecast for the months of February to April of 2010, which I understand was 47.27?

MR. VILLETT:  I don't have that information with me.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, if you look at -- you can see on the same page.

MR. VILLETT:  I do see it.  I am not -- I am not sure why we didn't include the February to April.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Would that -- notwithstanding your position on updating generally for October, would you consider using that forecast, the 47.27?

MR. VILLETT:  Perhaps I can --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  Now that I think about it, I understand you told me you didn't have the information and I took that to mean you didn't have a reason.  But are you telling me that there may have been a reason --

MR. VILLETT:  There may have been a reason, I just -- I am not aware of it right now, so perhaps ...

MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps I can do that by way of undertaking.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J8.6. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.6:  TO EXPLAIN WHY YOU WOULD NOT HAVE USED THE FEBRUARY TO APRIL 2010 VALUE FOR THE WHOLESALE NON-RPP CALCULATION

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that is to explain why you would not have used the February to April 2010 value for the wholesale calculation, RPP calculation -- wholesale non-RPP calculation.  Sorry.

I am almost done.  You spent some time yesterday with Mr. Warren I believe, I believe on the real estate facilities areas of spending.

And I can try to go through this quickly.  There is a little gap here that I am trying to close, so...  I am going to turn up Exhibit H1, 104.

This response sets out the historical spending on real estate field facilities and this, I think you went through this with Mr. Warren, it shows the spending going up from 5.8 million in 2009 to 21.4 million in – sorry -- in 2008, and then going up to $21.4 million in 2009.

Can you confirm that the planned spending for 2010 and 2011 is $18.9 million and $19.9 million respectively, and we get that from Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 3, project sheet C1, which I can pull up.  So this says, "Investment Name: Real Estate Field Facilities", and if I pull up the costs, it shows planned spending of 18.9 million and 17.9 million?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, I see those numbers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

Now, going back to the part (b) of the IR response that we were looking at, which explains the non-Green Energy Act costs, it says:  
"The Company estimates approximately $14M in 2010 and $13M in 2011 in additional..."


And then at the end of it it says:
"This does not include impact on additional accommodation needs in the field as result of Green Energy Act, Distributed Generation and modernization of distribution system work initiatives."


And what we did is, if we take the -- we understood that to mean that of the 18.9 million, for example, that is shown on the project sheet, only 4.9 million, which is 18.9 minus the 14 million you talk about here for 2010, is associated with the Green Energy Act.  Is that true?  Is it 4.9 million?

I ask, because in another interrogatory response, when you are setting out Green Energy Act costs, you use a figure of, I think, 3.9.

Actually, it was in the cross-examination I think with Mr. Warren you talked about 3.9 being associated with the Green Energy Act.

So I am looking for the missing million dollars.

MR. VILLETT:  Okay.  I don't recall the 3.9.  I thought I had referred yesterday to H-7-89, and in that response on page 2, it does refer to $5 million in 2010 and '11 related to green energy.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. VILLETT:  That's what I thought I had referred to yesterday.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I found it here.  So in 
H-7-92?

MR. VILLETT:  H-7-89, page 2, at the first paragraph.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  All right.  I think there is another interrogatory that gives a slightly different answer, but I will take that.  So about 5 million for Green Energy Act?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, having concluded that -- so there is roughly $5 million in capital spending in real estate field services due to the Green Energy Act, is what I've just concluded.  

Is it fair to say that this is associated with increases in head count? 

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.  It would be associated with our increased work programs associated with the Green Energy Act and the staffing associated with that, as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you quantify the head count increase you're planning for field staff in 2010 and 2011 over the 2008 and 2009 levels?

MR. VILLETT:  I don't have that information with me.  I saw Mr. Rogers reaching for the microphone.

MR. ROGERS:  I thought we had an undertaking to do that.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Didn't the other undertaking take care of that, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am trying to think if it did.

MR. ROGERS:  Let's assume it did, and if it didn't -- 

MS. NOWINA:  J8.4.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think because of the work functions, I think it would.  I think it would.  Thank you very much.  Sorry about that.

You did talk to Mr. Warren yesterday about TWE expenses, which I think he colloquialized as trucks and equipment.

And at Exhibit H, tab 7, 92, you have quantified the spending for 2010 on TWE at $83 million.  Do you remember that?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess I am just trying to look at the correlation between that cost and the staffing cost.  Is there a direct correlation?  Like, is there...

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  There would not be a direct correlation there.  It is generally that for the increased work program, we do -- we are looking at increased staff and increased TWE, but there is not a direct correlation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So what other -- I think you may have mentioned this yesterday, I apologize, but can you indicate the other factors that would drive the TWE?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.  I'm sorry, I think I misunderstood your question.  If you could rephrase that?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh.  See, I had come up in with, I guess, the presumption in the question there would be a direct correlation between the head count and TWE spending, and you are telling me it is a factor, but only one of the factors.  That is how I understood your question answer; is that correct?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am trying to get a handle on what the other factors are that are directly related, even though there is not, I guess, a mathematical correlation necessarily between the two figures, between -- that drive the TWE costs, aside from head count.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  I am still not quite clear on the question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  So are you asking for why is there not a closer correlation between field facilities and TWE, or are you asking what is driving TWE increases?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  I am actually -- my question was about the...  We talked about the $5 million in Green Energy Act capital spending and field services, and got a basic answer that it is driven a fair amount by the head count.  I am trying to see what kind of correlation there is between the head count and TWE expenses.

Am I understanding your answer to say there is a correlation in the sense the more staff you have, the more TWE spending you have?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But it sounded to me like there are other things which may account for huge chunks of that spending which don't necessarily depend on the new staff you are hiring.  I am trying to get a handle -- 

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  I think I understand.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- on how the head count and some other factor may work independently to drive the TWE factor.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  I think I understand the question now.  I apologize for that.  I believed you were looking for some correlation between space and head count.

But, no, the TWE is actually closely correlated with the staffing increases, on the one hand, for the increased work program, but, as I spoke about yesterday, there are other factors, including replacement of these vehicles just because of their natural life cycle and the need to replace. 

And, in particular, I mentioned that the purchase of these vehicles doesn't occur uniformly through time, that there are greater purchases at certain times and lesser at other times, and, when they come due, you get that sort of lumpy replacement cost, as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if I can -- this will probably be my last question of the year, so you're saying that the aging asset problem exists in your fleet of vehicles, as well?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  It is a factor, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. Mondrow.

MR. HAYES:  Madam Chair, Mr. Mondrow has yielded to me.  My name is James Hayes.  I am going to ask a few questions for the Society, with your permission.

MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Hayes.

MR. MONDROW:  Just in terms of order, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  I assumed that, Mr. Mondrow.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Hayes:

MR. HAYES:  Madam Chair, I have a few questions intended simply to widen the frame somewhat with respect to Society compensation analysis.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.

MR. HAYES:  Panel, we all know that the historical platform for the previous Society collective agreements were the predecessor collective agreements at Ontario Hydro; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, they were.  That's why we called it the legacy collective agreements, yes.

MR. HAYES:  As I understand it, the renewal of the Society collective agreement in 2005 was the first one to be resolved by a strike lockout mechanism?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. HAYES:  Is it fair to say that in 2005, the bargaining agenda for the management of Hydro One was quite ambitious?

MR. MCDONELL:  It was ambitious, yes.  Maybe I can just expand a bit on that.

In 2005, Hydro One was attempting to find ways to reduce costs in a number of different areas, yes.  We attempted to reduce costs in the areas of compensation, benefits and salary, as well as increasing hours of work, as a result of various pressures on Hydro One to make these improvements, pressures from our customers, pressure from the OEB, pressures from our own senior management.

And that was very much of our bargaining agenda, and as a result of that we ended up in a 15-week work disruption.

MR. HAYES:  And as I understand it, the strike was ultimately resolved after 15 weeks, after the direction of the shareholder that the matter should be resolved at mediation/arbitration.

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. HAYES:  And the mediation/arbitration as I understand it was conducted by experts, one of whom being the chairman of the Labour Relations Board, Kevin Whittaker.

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. HAYES:  Second, one of the leading arbitrators in the province, William Kaplan.

MR. MCDONELL:  I would agree.

MR. HAYES:  And as a result of that, both parties were bound by the arbitration outcome?

MR. MCDONELL:  Absolutely.

MR. HAYES:  And Hydro One nor the Society had any alternative but to accept the outcome of that proceeding?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. HAYES:  And looking at Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, once again, table 2, page 7.

MR. MCDONELL:  I'm there.

MR. HAYES:  Are you there?  I appreciate it is a very small table, but that, in the box there, lists only a couple of the gains made by the management at that time?

MR. MCDONELL:  Are we looking at the 2005-2008 or the last --

MR. HAYES:  I am looking at 2005-2008.

MR. MCDONELL:  That would include the --

MR. HAYES:  There were other factors.

MR. MCDONELL:  This is one of the major factors but there would be other ones as well.

MR. HAYES:  Yes.  Now, if I could ask you in the same -- perhaps in the same exhibit back to page 2, there is a reference there which I would like you to comment on very briefly.

At the bottom of the page there, in the paragraph commencing at the bottom:
"In labour agreements more so than commercial contracts, parties must also consider their longer term relationship."

Can you expand, again not at great length but very briefly on what did you mean to say there?

MR. MCDONELL:  The intention of that is, in typical commercial or legal contracts, there is a defined period of time from which the parties have entered into some negotiation for whatever the contract is about.  Collective agreements are a little bit different than that, because at the end of a collective agreement, those parties don't disappear.  Those parties have a longer term relationship.  So part of collective bargaining is to find a reasonable settlement that all parties can live with, in order to enhance the relationship for future years.

MR. HAYES:  If I could ask you, sir, to -- and counsel and Board Members to turn back again then to table 2 of the same exhibit, please, page 7.  I note there, at the table, there's reference in the next rounds of bargaining that early negotiations took place?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. HAYES:  And as I understand it, those negotiations took place virtually immediately after the appointment of the new CEO, Ms. Formosa?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.  I believe it commenced in the spring of 2007.

MR. HAYES:  And the early negotiations that took place at that time were encouraged very strongly by the government shareholder as well somewhat in advance of the end of April?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. HAYES:  And as I understand it, this was a significant initiative, in part, meant to repair the labour relations damage done by the long strike?

MR. MCDONELL:  I would agree with that.  I mean, we were able to achieve, in this case, a five-year collective agreement and as you can see, a significant number of issues were resolved for both sides.

And from Hydro One's point of view, we made significant gains in the area of reduction in compensation.  We were able to reduce a performance pay plan that saved $800,000 in 2008.

But what was also very important in that year was that we were able to introduce different salary schedules that allowed us to hire new employees at a lower rate, 14 percent less than what previously we were able to hire at, and in addition to that, we were able to restrict the advancement of staff to a lower level than what they previously were able to advance to.

And this was particularly beneficial for Hydro One, because we were in the midst of a fairly significant hiring program.  So we're going to be able to take advantage of these new wage schedules as we hire new staff.

MR. HAYES:  Okay.  And this agreement was reached voluntarily with the Society without a strike or lockout?

MR. MCDONELL:  It was.  And I believe since Hydro One has been established, that was the very first time.

MR. HAYES:  And as I understand it, my client tells me that labour relations between the Society and Hydro One have improved dramatically since 2005, is that your assessment as well.

MR. MCDONELL:  I would agree with that.  I mean one way in which you can assess that is our grievance and arbitration activity.  Leading up to the work disruption in 2005 and shortly after, there was a significant volume of grievances and arbitration, and since this collective agreement was negotiated, the volume has dropped off dramatically.

MR. HAYES:  And as I understand it, the table there shows an agreement until 2011.  It actually is 2013; is that correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  That was my error, it is 2013.

MR. HAYES:  As I understand it, the wage, across-the-Board wage increases through that period are 3 percent, 3 percent, 2-1/2 percent and 2-1/2 percent.

MR. MCDONELL:  In the fourth and fifth year it is two and a half percent.  The other years it is three, yes.

MR. HAYES:  Now, you refer at schedule 1 of the same exhibit, that's Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 5, quote, "Hydro One," about the second full paragraph:
"Hydro One has had some difficulty in attracting more experience external candidates into a higher rated technical, engineering and management positions."

Do you see that reference there?

MR. MCDONELL:  I do.

MR. HAYES:  I take it that reference includes Society-represented positions as well?

MR. MCDONELL:  It would be.  In particular, our protection and control in our power system engineers which are Society represented, yes.

MR. HAYES:  And at page 9 of the same schedule, and I know other counsel have looked at some of these things, I will just do it very briefly.  At the bottom of the page:
"In addition to the potential retirement of up to 1,400 employees in the next couple of years, there are increasing distribution and transmission work," et cetera.

And I take it obviously that there are significant number of Society-represented employees who will be retiring as well in the projected period?

MR. MCDONELL:  I would agree with that, Mr. Hayes, yes.

MR. HAYES:  Many of those or some or many, I don't know how Many, but a good number of those people would be able to take early retirement and seek other career options even in the same field?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is true.

MR. HAYES:  And is it fair to say that Society, as well -- not the Society, but Hydro One has had some difficulty any way in filling all of the vacancies for certain positions?

MR. MCDONELL:  We have had some difficulty especially in the area of engineering and some of our protection and control technicians, yes.

MR. HAYES:  If I turn to or ask you to turn to the second, next page, page 10.  I appreciate there are other things that you have referenced, but one of the ways that you describe here in dealing with recruitment and retaining staff with requisite skills, you say this:
"To do so, it must provide challenging and rewarding job opportunities and a competitive compensation package."

And I take it then that that is one of the ways that you deal with it, you make sure that your compensation is competitive?

MR. MCDONELL:  I would agree with that, yes.

MR. HAYES:  Is it fair to say in some cases, as you just identified, that the rates that have been agreed to are still insufficient to protect your work force in some cases from the lure of early retirement and contract work elsewhere?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think that is certainly a part of it, and I was going through some evidence yesterday, in particular, about our compensation in relation to companies like OPG and Bruce.

Those are companies that we compete with very much so in the hiring of a lot of our staff, both apprentices and positions that the Society would represent in new graduates.  In addition to not only competing for the same supply of labour, we are also very vulnerable to losing our experienced staff to those organizations, plus others, but predominantly OPG and Bruce.  So we need to be able to maintain a competitive compensation package.

MR. HAYES:  I note at -- on page 2 of the same exhibit, you make some reference to: 
"The ability of an employer in a unionized environment to reduce compensation is limited, particularly in a growing company which provides an essential service."


Now, leaving aside on what you commented on already with respect to new hires, would it be fair to say that given the recruitment and retention challenges that you face, it would have be an unwise decision to actually seek reduction in compensation in other sectors of your work force represented by the Society?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is true.  I guess the other way people refer to that is concession bargaining.  And in an environment where we are growing and needing to recruit new staff, concession bargaining is a very difficult, I might say impossible, task to achieve.

MR. HAYES:  And against that backdrop, then, is Hydro One content with 3 percent, 3 percent, 2-1/2 and 2-1/2?

MR. MCDONELL:  Maybe I could just make a comment.  You were referring earlier to interest arbitration, and I think that is some validation of how Hydro One has been doing well when we have negotiated our own wage increases.  

Even, as you put it, very experienced and seasoned interest arbitrators are still awarding wage increases that are very much in line with what Hydro One has negotiated when we negotiated our own collective agreements.

MR. HAYES:  Thank you, sir.  Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Hayes.  

Before I presume, Mr. Mondrow, you and Mr. Stephenson decided you are going before Mr. Stephenson?  All right.  Go ahead.

Then you get to leave at lunch time; right?  Go ahead, Mr. Mondrow.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair and Mr. Stephenson.


I am going to be quite brief, as it turns out, so that timing might work better in this order.  Good morning, gentlemen.

And it is appropriate, actually, that I am sandwiched between your labour relations interests, because I want to ask you some questions about your collective agreements clauses in respect of contracting out.

I act for the Electrical Contractors Association of Ontario, and, Mr. McDonell, I expect my questions will be primarily aimed at you or answered by you, in any event.

And I just want to take a minute and set up some context for a couple of questions I want to ask you.

In panel 1, I had a discussion with your witnesses and with the company's witnesses in respect of the Green Energy Plan and established, I think, and the record will reflect this in the end, that the availability of qualified labour is a -- I characterized it as a risk.  It is at least an issue in respect of execution of that plan, on top of your other distribution system work.

And then in panel 3, we had -- I had some discussion with the company's witnesses about the continuing and increasing reliance on external labour in the face of the amount of work to do, and I had wanted to ask some questions about the impacts of the collective agreement provisions regarding contracting out, and those questions were deferred to you.  So that is the context with which I bring these questions to you.

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.

MR. MONDROW:  I would like to use the interrogatory response you provided to ECAO, which I expect you are familiar with, Mr. McDonell, and that is Exhibit H, tab 11, schedule 1.

And we asked in part (b) of that interrogatory for copies of any labour agreement provisions, to which the company is subject, which impact or limit the extent to which Hydro One can contract out electrical design engineering and construction work.

In response, you provided some excerpts from your collective agreements with each of the Power Workers' Union and the Society.  And so I just want to look first at the Power Workers' Union excerpts that you provided.

MR. MCDONELL:  Just to be clear, when you say "excerpts", this actually is the entire purchase service agreement out of the PWU collective agreement.  It is all part of it.

MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  It is an excerpt from the entire collective agreement, but this is the entire portion of the agreement that deals with, you said -- purchase services is the term you used, I think.

MR. MCDONELL:  Or contracting out.  Whatever you prefer, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  I appreciate that.  So I just want to look at -- see if I can characterize the primary principles in your agreement with the PWU in respect of contracting out.

To do that, I look at the first excerpt just under the heading on the first -- it is page 1 of 6 of this attachment to the interrogatory response, and the heading number is "12.1.1 Philosophy", and it says: 
"It is the Company's intent to use regular staff to perform most of its work of a continuing nature. Furthermore, the Company will strive to provide regular staff with stability of employment."


And then if I flip over to page 2, there is a heading "Principles", and I look, in particular at principles (c) and (d).  Principle (c) says:
"We will do most work of a continuing nature with Company employees." 

So that really echoes the provision I just read a minute ago.  And principle (d) says:
"We will determine when work is to be done by non-PWU members through a joint decision making process and the results of these decisions will be a joint responsibility."


And then, finally, if I drop down to the "Responsibility For Decisions" section, there is repetition about half way down there that says:

"Subject to 12.2.6 and 12.3.2(c) below, decisions to use purchased services will be made on a consensus basis."


So from those provisions -- and I did look at the rest of this section of your collective agreement, but from those provisions, I take it primary principles in respect of purchased services are (a) work of a continuing nature to be done by employees of the company, and (b) to the extent that contracting out is deemed advisable by management, that will be subject to agreement with the union.  

Is that a fair encapsulization of the basic principles governing these contracting-out arrangements?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  You said a lot there.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. MCDONELL:  But I would say it is relatively fair.

I might also add - and I think this is relatively important - under the philosophy statement, as well, I think this is really a balance.  It is balance with providing employment security and having PWU forces do work of a continuing nature.  

But the other part of the balance is this allows us to seek contracting out agreements where it makes sense for the organization, from an economical point of view, to enter into PSAs.

So that is the balance that this provision is trying to strike.  And the rest of the document is really about the process on how the parties will work together.  It is a joint process to look at contracting out, and then ultimately if we don't have an agreement, then we have a dispute resolution process.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

So in that context, when we think about the Green Energy Plan and the work that is going to be required under that plan, in addition to your normal or conventional distribution system asset work, how is that Green Energy Plan work characterized within the context of continuing work versus purchased services eligible work?

MR. MCDONELL:  It does obviously speak to it in this particular reference, but this -- or this collective agreement reference but -- and I think you have heard through other panels that the green energy work is just -- it is another piece of work that has to be done by Hydro One.

So we will be looking at all of the various options in order to complete that work, one of which will be contracting out.

MR. MONDROW:  Have you had discussions with the PWU about the Green Energy Plan work and what portions of that should be or -- should be eligible for contracting out?

MR. MCDONELL:  I am not aware of any specific discussions on green energy and contracting out.  That is not to say there haven't been.  I am just not aware of any specific discussions.

MR. MONDROW:  Would you agree that you or someone at the company is going to need to have those discussions in order to proceed with execution of your Green Energy Plan?

MR. MCDONELL:  I would agree with that.  I mean, I think Mr. Gee was discussing this on panel 3, where we are looking at all available options to complete this work.  And, again, one of those options will be contracting out.

MR. MONDROW:  Who is it in the company, then, that would have those discussions with the PWU representatives?

MR. MCDONELL:  It really depends.  I mean, if it is a very significant piece of work, it could be at the vice presidential level.  If it is pieces of work that are not as large, it could be at a manager level.

MR. MONDROW:  So is it fair for me to conclude from your testimony that the extent to which the execution of the Green Energy Plan has been developed to date is -- let me phrase it another way.

The execution of the Green Energy Plan has not been developed, to date, to the level of allocating the work as between internal resources and external resources?

You haven't drilled down to that level of granularity?

MR. MCDONELL:  Just one second.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MCDONELL:  I believe that there's been some level of discussion, especially within our engineering and construction group, about how they're going to attack the work, and part of it will be putting an emphasis on contracting out, to the extent that this particular business unit has created a contract management group - I believe is what they call it - to focus on opportunities for contracting out.

MR. MONDROW:  Do you anticipate concerns on the part of the PWU to that contracting out?

MR. MCDONELL:  I don't really think I can comment on that.

MR. MONDROW:  You can't comment on it, why; because you're not knowledge or some there is other restraint?

MR. MCDONELL:  I don't think I can speak for the PWU, but I would imagine that they're very interested in work, but we have had a history of working cooperatively with the PWU on contracting out.  So that's pretty much all I can say.

MR. MONDROW:  All right, fair enough.  Maybe I can shift half a gear and just ask you a few questions about the hiring hall arrangements.  You had some discussion with Mr. Buonaguro about your casual labour numbers a few minutes ago, and you described the components or the people behind those numbers as in large measure PWU hiring hall people, trades.  

I wonder if you could just provide a bit more information on the nature of the work arrangement that results from that hiring hall, and, in particular, how long are people retained for, how do the costs of that compare to either your employee option or your purchased services option, and how -- I think there is some testimony that those people don't come generally with their own tools, that the company supplies tools.  So if you can address those three parameters. 

MR. MCDONELL:  I will try.  I think you gave me a lot there to think about.  But the PWU hiring hall was created not with the intent of replacing our regular work force.  

The PWU hiring hall is there to supplement our construction and our maintenance of our system.  

So typically, we hire the PWU staff through various times during the year.  They're not -- there 12 months of any year.  Typically they come in, starting smaller numbers at the end of first quarter, increasing up to a maximum probably in the summer months, and then tailing off during the fall period of time.  

The PWU hiring hall, we consider them as temporary employees.  They are on our payroll, but they have a different compensation model than our regular staff.  For instance, they do not join our pension and benefits program, which is a significant cost saving for the organization.  

In terms of tools, I think Mr. Gee referred to this as -- they are essentially the manpower that we have to conduct our trades work.  

They are -- I am not too sure about how many tools we provide, but we will be providing some tools but generally they are the manpower to complete the work.  

MR. MONDROW:  So if you are relying on a thousand hiring hall people to fill your work program for 2010 or 2011, it will be the company's responsibility to obtain the required machinery and tools for those people to do the work?  

MR. MCDONELL:  I would agree with that.  

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  And it is trite to say, but I take it you agree that for purchase services, that is not the case?  That is what you pay for in part when you contract out, is the -- not only the people to do the work but the tools and equipment required to do that work?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Correct.  

MR. MONDROW:  And would it be your group, Mr. McDonell, that would, in part, participate in discussions of how to optimize from a cost perspective and a work timing perspective the use of full-time employees versus casual labour, versus purchase services?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Not necessarily so.  I mean, we would probably be -- we would have input and labour relations would also have input especially around the area of contracting out, in terms of managing the process to work with the unions on any contracting out discussions that have to take place. 

MR. MONDROW:  Have you had or anyone in your group -- has anyone in your group had discussions or participated in discussions in respect of execution of the Green Energy Plan work with respect to that optimization of internal versus external versus hiring hall resources?  

MR. MCDONELL:  I don't know how to answer that.  I don't have any knowledge, but as I said earlier, there certainly have been discussions within engineering/ construction services on how they're going to complete the work.  To what extent they had discussions with the union representatives, I don't know. 

MR. MONDROW:  Who, in your group, would be consulted with respect to the purchase services components of that execution plan?  Would it be you?  

MR. MCDONELL:  No it wouldn't be me.  It would probably go to our labour relations group, in particular the vice-president of labour relations.  

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  I wonder if it would be appropriate if you could make an enquiry and just advise by way of an undertaking whether there has been a discussion with labour relations about optimization of Green Energy Plan execution in respect of the internal versus external versus hiring hall resources. 

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, may I comment that I have been resisting interrupting because I want to give equal time to the labour relations issue this Energy Board is dealing with this morning, but I have trouble understanding how this is relevant and how it is going to help you with your decision on the energy side of this case. 

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Mondrow?  How will it help us?  

MR. MONDROW:  Well, my client, Madam Chair, will make submission at the end of the day in respect of the value of using externally contracted resources to execute Green Energy Plans and probably to the effect that one of the Board's approval criteria should in fact consider the extent to which external resources are being used both to import skills and to export skills to the industry to make sure that there are qualified people available in the industry at large, to help with this ambitious execution. Another issue that we will likely be pursuing is the extent to which Hydro One has turned its mind to the optimal balance and the factors considered. 

So the question that I have just asked for an undertaking on is an attempt to discover whether the company has turned its mind to when purchased services are appropriately used in respect of that plan execution, and if they haven't, we would argue that the Board should be concerned about that.  So that is the background for the questions that I am asking.  

MS. NOWINA:  I think it is valid, Mr. Rogers.  Is that an undertaking, then, Mr. Mondrow?  

MR. MONDROW:  I would ask the witness if he could enquire as to whether those optimization discussions have taken place, yes, thank you.  

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  

MR. MILLAR:  J8.7.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.7:  TO ADVISE WHETHER OPTIMIZATIONS DISCUSSIONS REGARDING THE GREEN ENERGY PLAN HAVE TAKEN PLACE

MR. MONDROW:  Now, just one final area, if I could, Mr. McDonell.  This is still on Exhibit H, tab 11, schedule 1, and I had some discussions with Mr. Gee about the table provided in response to the part (d) of ECAO's request, and the table establishes the increasing expected use of contracted-out resources in execution of the Green Energy Plan, and that's in the contract costs column, those costs are escalating from 2008 through 2011.  

Are you familiar with these numbers?  

MR. MCDONELL:  No, I'm not.  I didn't produce these numbers.  

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Could you comment on whether these numbers were formulated with reference to any collective agreement constraints on the contracting out portion of the execution of the plan, which I was told would be your area.  Although not perhaps not directly as I have asked you the question, in fairness.  

MR. MCDONELL:  I think you are asking me how these numbers were generated and whether or not there were any discussions about any impacts of the collective agreement?  

MR. MONDROW:  On the numbers, yes. 

MR. MCDONELL:  I don't know.  

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Well I guess in part the response to the undertaking that has just been provided, will, in part, help with that.  

Well thank you very much for your help.  That concludes my questions, Madam Chair, thank you. 

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  I think we will break for lunch now so we don't break up Mr. Stephenson's cross.  I have you down for an hour, is that right, Mr. Stephenson?  

MR. STEPHENSON:  I don't think I am going to be that long.  And I have it at twenty to. 

MS. NOWINA:  Yes. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  I think I can be done in under a half hour.  And I am not going to promise 20 minutes, I can't -- that would be wrong. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You could do it but it would be wrong. 

MS. NOWINA:  Well, then, I think we will break for lunch in any case because I have a commitment at 12 o'clock and we still have to hear from Mr. Millar.  So we will break now and return in one hour's time.  

--- Luncheon recess taken at 11:40 a.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 12:44 p.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Mr. Sommerville had a preliminary matter for us.
Preliminary Matters: 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers, I wonder if I could get a confidential undertaking that relates to Exhibit KX2.

On page 14 of that exhibit, which really is part of schedule A of the exhibit, there is a table, and I would just like the company, on a confidential basis, to provide me with the derivation of the numbers that appear on that table for 2010 and 2011.

MR. ROGERS:  The answer is, yes, of course.  I just want to see the table to make sure they can do what you are asking, but I am sure they can.

The answer is, yes, sir, we will.

MR. MILLAR:  It is KX3.2.

MS. NOWINA:  KX3.2.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think not.

MR. MILLAR:  It could be my mistake.  What is your reference, Mr. Sommerville?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think it is KX2.

MS. NOWINA:  It would have to be point something.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am advised it has been re-labelled, so it is 3.2, KX3.2.  I don't want to be any more explicit about that.

MR. ROGERS:  I appreciate that.  My only concern is I want to be sure that they can do it.  If they can, they will.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The table that appears on page 14.

MR. ROGERS:  Could you -- would you like the company to provide you with the background?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, how those numbers were developed for 2010 and 2011.  I am not worried about the subsequent years.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If you want to provide, that's fine, but the only ones I am interested in are 2010 and 2011.

MR. ROGERS:  That will be done.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much.

MS. NOWINA:  Let's get an undertaking number for that, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Yep.  Undertaking JX8.8, and that is to provide an explanation of the derivation of the numbers for 2010 and 2011 on the chart on page 14 of KX3.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JX8.8:  TO PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION OF THE DERIVATION OF THE NUMBERS FOR 2010 AND 2011 ON THE CHART, ON PAGE 14 OF KX3.2.

MS. NOWINA:  And to be filed confidentially.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, yes.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Mondrow, I understand you forgot something?

MR. MONDROW:  I had this whole speech prepared, but I don't have to make it now.  Yes, I did, and with your leave, Madam Chair, I just want to tie that off.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow (continued):

MR. MONDROW:  I should note that I did mention it to the Society folks who were here, because it is a question that relates to the Society collective agreement, just to let them know I would be coming back to it.  I hold them what I would be asking and they didn't express any concern.

So, Mr. McDonell, I wonder if, just to complete the record on this topic I was discussing with you, you could open exhibit H, tab 11, schedule 1, and attachment 2 is -- are excerpts, or perhaps the excerpts on purchase services from the collective agreement between Hydro One Inc. and the Society.

And in my zeal, I forgot to ask you about this one.  So just to complete that, first of all, can I ask you to confirm that the Society members are engaged on Green Energy Plan execution?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, they would be.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, great.

And when I looked at these provisions in this excerpt that was provided in the interrogatory response, I see that there are similarities with the PWU, obviously a different agreement, but the second bullet in respect of the purchased services provisions really reference external services to be used in certain circumstances.  

It is kind of worded opposite of the PWU, but it is for supplementing peaks, responding to new business opportunities, low value work non-recurring works.  There is a commitment in the third bullet to enhancing and maintaining internal staff skill level, and the third -- the fourth bullet deals with advice and discussions with the Society, and intent for common resolution, although in this case, the final decision on purchased services is reserved to management.

So there are certain similarities in structure, but before getting into anything else, I should ask you whether these provisions are in effect, because I see at the top there is a note that these provisions, if I am reading that correctly, have been suspended for the balance of the term of this particular collective agreement; is that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  You are reading this correct.  All of those bullets that you were referring to are suspended for the duration of this collective agreement, with the exception of the last bullet, which says that no employees will be laid off as a direct result of contracting out.

MR. MONDROW:  That suspension occurred in or around 2008, sometime; is that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  It condensed with the 2008-2013 collective agreement.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Can you describe how that came to pass?

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, this was another one of those areas for which we believe that we have made some inroads in reducing costs and increasing flexibility and productivity.

This was a management-driven agenda item, in order to provide more flexibility, in order to contract out where we think it is appropriate.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Do you have a working practice in respect of keeping the Society advised of your purchased services or contracting out initiatives?

MR. MCDONELL:  Up until the suspension of this particular article, we would have advised Society at the end of a calendar year what contracting out has occurred within their bargaining unit.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.

MR. MCDONELL:  But as you can see, that, too, has been suspended.

MR. MONDROW:  So you don't do that anymore as a matter of course?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  Thank you, sir.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.

Mr. Stephenson.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.

Mr. McDonell, maybe I can -- I think most of this will be for you.  I just want to follow up from my friend, Mr. Mondrow, on the purchased services issue, and, in particular, with respect to the provisions of the PWU collective agreement regarding that matter.

Just to clarify, there is no -- the PWU doesn't have a veto with respect to Hydro One's ability to contract out or obtain purchased services; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  No.  There is no veto.  What I was trying to explain was that this process enables the parties to have a discussion, and if at the end of the day there is a dispute, there is a third party process where an arbitrator will make a decision whether or not our request for our purchased services is supported, or not.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And at the end of the day, if you have to go down that route, it is -- the arbitrator makes a binding decision with regard -- one way or the other?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  The process there, as I understand it, broadly speaking, is that Hydro One has to essentially make a business case about why this is an appropriate thing to be done; fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it that over the course of -- this occurs from time to time every year.  There is numerous cases every year; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  We have a long history of this particular language, and there have been a number of occasions where we have entered into purchased service agreements or where we have had to go to an arbitrator, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And as a result of the decisions that get made from time to time by the arbitrator, I take it the parties had developed some kind of common understanding about what is going to get approved and what isn't going to get approved from time to time?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  Through the various arbitrations, we certainly have a good sense of what is possible and what is not possible.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Presumably that informs the consensual process at the front end; fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  I would agree with that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Can I just ask you to turn up -- it is Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 67, which is a document that Mr. Buonaguro had you take a look at.  It is a VECC interrogatory response.

And this is the one that's got the table, the enormous table with all of the numbers on it.

MR. MCDONELL:  I have that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am not going to take you to any particular number on that, but I just want to deal with it at a high level and in general terms.

First off, just to be clear, this is -- these are corporate numbers as distinct from just the distribution business?  Am I right about that?

MR. MCDONELL:  These are corporate numbers, so this includes both our transmission and distribution business, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  So in terms of the increases in the numbers, virtually all but the complement numbers are on an upward trend, fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Some of that trend is attributed by drivers that are related to the transmission business and some of them are distribution.

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.  We have had lots of discussion about that, in terms of us being able to show which is which and like we have said, that is very difficult.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But directionally your business is getting bigger on both sides.

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

In terms of the numbers that are on the table with respect to casual employees -- and I don't need to refer you to any particular one -- I think you indicated previously that that number or those numbers are made up of, generally speaking, two categories of people: PWU hiring hall on the one hand and business trades - sorry, building trade union folks on the other.

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay and the building trade union folks are essentially the construction forces?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, that's true.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Broadly speaking?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  As I see it their numbers are actually increasing at a higher rate than your permanent staff in the next couple of years.

MR. MCDONELL:  Specifically the building trades or --

MR. STEPHENSON:  The casual.

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, they are.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I just want to talk about the casual - sorry, the building trades folks for a moment.

You used those folks in both the transmission and distribution business, I understand, more so on the transmission side.

MR. MCDONELL:  More so on the transmission side, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And there are a number of different trade unions that fall under that category; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  I believe we have 16 collective agreements with the various building trade unions.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I believe with one exception, all of those collective agreements are not entered into by Hydro One directly, on the employer side, but rather they're entered into via an entity known as EPSCA.

MR. MCDONELL:  EPSCA, standing for the Electrical Power Sector Construction Association.   Hydro One is one of a number of employers that bargain with the various building trade unions.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I just want to talk to you for a moment about EPSCA.

As you have indicated, it is an employer organization; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.  It is made up much Hydro One, Bruce Power, OPG and a number of contractors.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And these are obviously various players in the electrical power system from a construction perspective?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is true.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And it is, as I understand it, the EPSCA bargains as an entity, a single entity and enters into an agreement with a particular building trade and the agreement will govern all of the members, that is all of the employer members of EPSCA in precisely the same manner.

MR. MCDONELL:  That is accurate.

MR. STEPHENSON:  A single agreement?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is true.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I take it that that agreement -- or those agreements, because there are 16 of them or so.

MR. MCDONELL:  That's a pretty close approximation.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  They have all got escalation clauses in them over the term of those various agreements; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  They do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And what is the escalation clause?

MR. MCDONELL:  Three percent.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And those agreements -- just to be clear about this.  Hydro One is but one member of EPSCA and it doesn't have the unilateral ability to enter an agreement on behalf of EPSCA; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So if we are looking for some kind of market test, in terms of electrical industry participants about what is acceptable for electrical industry employers more generally -- at least in this construction field area -- we can look to that agreement as being something that there is, there has been a consensus amongst those folks that this is an agreement that they are prepared to live with?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think that is true.  I mean EPSCA as I mentioned is made up of other employers, including a number, I think there's ten contractors that sit on the EPSCA board in addition to Hydro One and OPG.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  So needless to say, other than this Board regulates OPG to a certain extent, all of the other members are not, in any respect, regulated by this Board?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And before I leave this subject, amongst the unions that EPSCA deals with, one of those unions is the IBEW; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is true, yes, the IBEW.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And they represent electrical workers; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And in many respects, the work done by IBEW- represented folks is similar to the work done by PWU-represented folks in certain aspects of your business; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  On the electrical side, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And they are also subject to this three percent escalator?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is true.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Just going back to this big chart on whatever the exhibit is, Mr. Buonaguro's exhibit.

This chart assists us in understanding the magnitude of the recruitment process that you are undergoing now; is that a fair comment?

MR. MCDONELL:  In the sense that, you know, it shows where our increases in head count are year over year, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, I wonder if I could ask the witness to tell us which exhibit that is.

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  It is Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 67.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  We are at attachment 1 page 1 of 1, sorry.  It is my fault.

And looking at this document, we can see that, in fact, this recruitment exercise didn't start in 2009.  In fact, if we look back to the numbers from 2006 onwards, there has been a consistent addition to complement through the period?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, sir, there has been.  We certainly have been trying to be out front of our demographic challenge by hiring much earlier in this decade.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And just to be clear, the one thing that this document doesn't show us is, this is only the net increase, but you've got -- there is some attrition that you otherwise have to compensate for.  So in fact you are adding actually more people than this chart shows us.

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, I think this chart shows the actual increase in head count, but as we -- we have to replace staff as they retire, so we replace that, but in addition to that we are hiring more to deal with our work program.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But this shows us the net increase.  It doesn't show us the additional folks that you have got to recruit in order simply to deal with your attritions?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, fine.

Now, one more page I wanted to look at.  It is in this exhibit as well, and it is at -- if you can just bear with me -- attachment 3, page 1 of 1, within Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 67.

MR. MCDONELL:  I have that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And VECC asked you to prepare this chart and what it does, I gather is to expand upon something that you have already got in the prefiled evidence, and it is adding for certain selected classifications a comparison from 1999 to 2009 with respect to Hydro One Networks Brampton, as well as Bruce Power and OPG.  Do you see that?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And let me just get a little bit of background about Hydro One Networks Brampton.

Hydro One Networks Brampton is not -- is run as a separate and distinct business from the bigger Hydro One Networks business; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  It is a separate subsidiary of Hydro One Inc.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But it's got a separate work force, separate management, at least on the ground level; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  Separate board of directors, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And Hydro One Networks Brampton was, in fact, acquired by Hydro One sometime in the past; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  I can't remember the exact date, but, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Do you know whether it was before or after 1999?

MR. MCDONELL:  It was after 1999.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, I thought so.

And so as I look at this chart, and I am not looking at any particular classification, but what it, as I understand it, shows us is the percentage change over that ten-year span for each of these companies for a related position.

And, generally speaking, as I see it, to the extent there are people in the same classifications, the level of growth at Hydro One, in terms of compensation, has been at or below that for OPG and Bruce Power; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's what we're trying to demonstrate, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then the other thing I forgot to mention about Hydro One Brampton is while it 
is -- much of the work force there is unionized, it is not unionized by the PWU and the Society like at the big Networks; correct.

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.  Hydro One Brampton has the CAW and IBEW as their bargaining agents.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And it had a different -- they had different -- to the extent there are legacy collective agreements, they had legacy collective agreements, as well.  They were just different ones?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And as I am looking at this chart, more or less, in terms of the growth - that is, the change in the rates as between '99 and 2009 - comparing Hydro One and Hydro One Brampton, the growth looks comparable; is that fair?  Sometimes it is the same.  Sometimes it is a little higher, sometimes a little lower, but they're all more or less in the same ballpark?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, I agree it's in the same ballpark.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So can we conclude from this chart that if we looked at -- if we're going to measure Hydro One Networks' success in terms of managing these costs, when we measure it against OPG and Bruce Power, you've got a situation where they had the same legacy collective agreement and you have the same incumbent unions; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And you have had, shall we say, greater success in terms of managing those costs than those two entities, fair, for at least for these classifications?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's true.  That's why we find this fairly powerful support for our position that we have been managing our compensation as best as we can, because you really can't get a better comparison between rates.

What we are describing here is a situation where at one point in time, within one company, within one organization structure with the same labour relation strategy, what the rates were, and then ten years later, after the company's -- after Ontario Hydro de-merged, the companies go into different companies, different organization structures, different leadership, different labour relation strategy.  

And you see the results that Hydro One has restrained the costs at a lesser rate than OPG and Bruce.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  On that one point, but, I mean, Bruce Power is a private sector entity; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And it is unregulated?

MR. MCDONELL:  It is unregulated.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So it provides you with an unregulated private sector benchmark that you can measure yourself against; fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  I would agree with that.  I think I have mentioned a couple of times -- and these are the organizations for which we need to be able to compete against, in both to hire staff and to retain our current staff.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.

And the Hydro One Brampton comparison is an interesting comparison, because it doesn't have the same legacy and it doesn't have the same unions, and yet you've got more or less the same result vis-à-vis the big Hydro One Networks?

MR. MCDONELL:  I agree, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

One last thing just before we leave this chart.  This issue was dealt with a little bit by the Board in the transmission case, and one of the comments that the Board made in the transmission case was that one factor which may have affected Hydro One's ability to keep its costs lower was the very fact that it recruited a lot of new, younger, entry level people.

And, therefore, they would be making at the bottom of the progression, rather than at the top.  I don't know if you remember that, but they said that, okay?

MR. MCDONELL:  Sorry, who said that?

MR. STEPHENSON:  That was the Board.

MR. MCDONELL:  The Board in the transmission case?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  But this chart we're looking at here, in this exhibit, these are hourly rates; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  They are.  They are the base rate, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So this is an apples-to-apples comparison?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  This has got nothing to do with progression and whether you have more people at the senior end or the lower end.  This is strictly entry level to entry level comparison?

MR. MCDONELL:  These rates are not the entry level for these particular classifications.  These are what we refer to as the end rate.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Oh, end rate, sorry.

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In any event, they're the same for both years all the way down the line for each of the companies?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

Let me just talk to you for a moment about overtime.

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  There's a chart in the materials.  I've forgotten where it is.  But, in any event, there is one that shows -- it is actually in the prefiled evidence.  I think it is table 1 at Exhibit C2, tab 3, schedule 1.

MR. MCDONELL:  Is this the table showing the rate for the regional maintainer lines?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, that's the one.

MR. MCDONELL:  C2, tab 3, schedule 1, page 1.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  What it shows me is that, at least for this particular position, there are very substantial amounts of overtime in connection with the -- for each of the years; fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I think you explained why that is the case.  This is one which is very sensitive to overtime issues?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.  This is the classification that very much is part of restoring power through trouble call and storm damage, and I think I had quoted that, you know, that is a significant area for which we do incur overtime.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All I wanted to review with you is this. 

Needless to say, there are a variety of ways that you could get this work done other than overtime, and I just wanted to explore them with you.

The first way you could, in theory, deal with this is you simply don't do the work at all, and I take it that is not a viable option?

MR. MCDONELL:  Especially when it comes to storm damage and trouble calls, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right, okay.

So assuming you are going to do the work and you wanted to reduce the amount of overtime, one of the options that would otherwise be available to you, I suppose, would be to increase the size of your regular complement; fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  We could hire more employees, but we don't believe that we should be hiring to meet our peak workload.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it the company has presumably looked at this issue and has concluded this is -- the overtime route is a more cost-effective response?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

I suppose, in theory, you could look to either the PWU hiring hall or contracting out as another potential alternative to overtime?

MR. MCDONELL:  We do.  But, again, in this type of job that we're talking about, it is not always the best way to go.

I mean, when we have a storm damage or trouble call, we have to act immediately.  We can't wait to get a purchased service in place, nor can we typically wait the three or four days it takes to get a PWU hiring hall referred to us.  So this is the most immediate way we can respond.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So there is operational issues -- 

MR. MCDONELL:  There are.

MR. STEPHENSON:  -- that affect that decision; fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I am just using this particular chart as an illustrative example, but I take it you have to make the same assessment with respect to overtime for other jobs; fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  I mentioned earlier that overtime is one of the, if you will, the various levers that we have in order to accomplish our work.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And let's put it this way, I mean you don't have a lot of overtime -- a lot of overtime because necessarily the unions are in favour of this.  I take it that they don't necessarily share the company's view about the magnitude of overtime and whether that is a good idea or not.

MR. MCDONELL:  No.  I mean I think we had a discussion earlier with this panel about discretionary overtime and I had said that we really don't have discretionary overtime.

Overtime that we use is because it has to be done.  There is reasons why it has to be done, but we don't believe we have any real discretionary overtime.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, panel, Michael Millar counsel for Board Staff.

I am going to start with a couple of questions about your IT budget and then move into some compensation areas and then we will be done.  I don't expect to be more than half an hour so we will get to finish a little bit early today.

To start, I am going to ask you a couple of questions about the Cornerstone project, which I understand was a subject of some debate in previous applications but frankly we haven't heard about it a lot in this case so I just wanted to follow up on a couple of things with regard to that.

First of all, if I could just describe Cornerstone.  I haven't actually had much experience with it but I understand it is a suite of software programs that is designed to realize various efficiencies throughout the company.  Is that a good high level overview or would you characterize it a little bit differently?

MR. WINTERS:  Let me elaborate on your description.  The Cornerstone project really began as an IT system replacement of some core end-of-life systems.

As you know, we chose SAP as that core system.

What we have done on top of that is we have -- we underwent a number of business transformation initiatives, in fact, to realize productivity savings and efficiencies, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And this Cornerstone was in development for several years; is that correct?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.  Phase one began, the conception of phase one began in 2006 and the bulk of the work was -- for phase one is 2007-2008.  And we have gone live with our phase II as of this year.

MR. MILLAR:  So they're both live; is that correct?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

I think the easiest way to actually get at some of the numbers associated with IT and Cornerstone specifically are, if you would turn to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 46.

That is H-1-46. 

MR. WINTERS:  I'm there.

MR. MILLAR:  And I take you to this chart because often in the prefiled evidence, through no fault of the company, for historic years you show the combined distribution and transmission.  Here we have it broken down just for distribution; do you see that?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes I do.

MR. MILLAR:  If we look at the sustainment line under IT, the increase from 2008 to 2010 is 40 million and change to 51 and change.

And would you agree with me, subject to check, that is an increase of about 26 percent?

MR. WINTERS:  Subject to check.

MR. MILLAR:  Then if you flip the page to page 2 of that exhibit, I think this is a further breakdown on sustainment, the top chart.

And if you look under "other incremental sustainment," it goes from 6.8 million in 2008, then up to 14.3 in 2009, and 17.5 for 2010.  Do you see that?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And I didn't do the actual percentage but between 2008 and 2010, that's more than double, in fact, getting close to triple the budget.

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  More or less, that's just directionally.

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The Cornerstone costs, those are in other incremental sustainment; is that correct?

MR. WINTERS:  The SAP application management is within the other incremental sustainment.

MR. MILLAR:  And we noticed there is obviously a big jump from 2008 to 2009.  I believe that is when you said some of this came online.  Is that the reason for the big jump between 2008 and 2009?

MR. WINTERS:  It is one of the factors that contributed to the increase from 2008 to 2009.

2008 was a -- since we went live in that year for the first time, represented a partial year of support.  Whereas 2009, indeed, for at least phase one represents a full year of support.

MR. MILLAR:  And then there is an additional increase to 2010.  What caused those increases?

MR. WINTERS:  Again, a number of factors, but if you are focussing just on the SAP application management, 2010 will represent the first year of full-year support for both phase I and phase II.

MR. MILLAR:  What about 2011, why is there another million and a half for 2011?  Is that related to SAP or are those other drivers?

MR. WINTERS:  Those are other.  It is flatlined between 2010-2011.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So is it fair to say just looking at this chart as a whole, the SAP costs, driven costs at least in part are driving the costs up significantly.  Do I take it that 17.5 and 19 million is probably going to be more or less the cost going forward.  It is not going to go back down to 5.9 and 6.8.

MR. WINTERS:  Actually, that is not necessarily correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. WINTERS:  Let me qualify that statement.

2010 definitely represents a stabilization year and we are working with our IT outsourcer to drive down the application management costs.  So we have various initiatives underway to actually drive down the application management costs, balancing that with the fact that we will be undergoing our phase III initiatives and indeed adding again more functions.  So it may be an equalizing effect.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, right.  Phase III.  When is phase III to come on line.

MR. WINTERS:  We are in the discovery phase for phase III.

We plan on undergoing some projects in 2010 and it will span three years.

MR. MILLAR:  It is fair to say though that your SAP Cornerstone costs have driven up the other incremental sustaining costs from 2005?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it the trade-off there is the benefit to these programs are meant to realize savings in other areas, is that the trade-off?  That is why these costs are appropriate?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Is it possible to actually identify these savings in the application?  It may, in fact, be in there I had a look and I don't see any specific reference to savings arising from these projects.

MR. WINTERS:  I can take you there.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I was worried you could.

MR. WINTERS:  If you go to our evidence D1-3-7.  It's the shared services Cornerstone capital evidence, 11 pages.

And throughout this evidence, it speaks to the capital costs but then it also, for each phase broken down by phase speaks to the savings that have been planned and are expected.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Does it give specific numbers?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, it does.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, maybe I will leave that part at that.

Could I ask you to go back to Board Staff 46.   Something else that caught my eye on this chart, if you look at the development costs just back to page 1, please. 

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, I am there.

MR. MILLAR:  The development costs in 2008 are a million dollars.  Then they jump quite significantly to 5.9 million in 2010 and 6.2 million in 2011.  I have that from 2008 to 2010 as a 490 percent increase.  Do you see that?

MR. WINTERS:  I do see the numbers, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then when I look to the explanation for that, what I found is I went to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 9, page 12, again that is C1, tab 2, schedule 9, page 12.

MR. WINTERS:  I'm there.

MR. MILLAR:  And you will see there is a table, again just for -- page 12.

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I am just waiting for it to be pulled up.

MR. WINTERS:  I'm sorry, I beat you to it.

MR. MILLAR:  We see there is a chart generally setting that out, and then it gives some explanation as to what the costs are for.  If you look at the bottom of page 12, you talk about the costs for 2009, specifically, but at line 22 small project costs for 2009 include application rationalization, some upgrades, and then if I look down, enhancements on line 23.

If we skip over to page 13, starting at line 13, you discuss some of the drivers, I think, for 2010, and they include enhancements to enterprise analytics and reportings by further leveraging SAP business intelligence, performance management improvements through the development of key performance indicators, and then carrying on, improvements to work management and supply chain processes, and then further system enhancements are referenced in the next line.

And I take it that is the full explanation for the increase over -- not necessarily those specific words I read to you, but this page-and-a-half or so, that's the justification for the increase between 2008 and 2010 and 2011?

MR. WINTERS:  I would categorize that as the summary version, and, actually, we responded to a Board interrogatory, H-1-48, which actually breaks out the eight projects that makes up the 10.4 million, as well as a summary for each of those projects and a summary of the business benefit.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, yes, I have seen that.  I guess my question -- we've come back to this several times.  I have made an attempt to point to various places in the evidence where the company talks about enhancements and upgrades and whatnot.

I guess the question we still have is:  Are these really necessary, given the large overall increases in the revenue requirement?  Can these things not be put off a couple of years to save some money at least in the short term?

MR. WINTERS:  No, they cannot.

MR. MILLAR:  Why is that?

MR. WINTERS:  So perhaps we can go to H-1-48.  If I were to pick a couple, for example, the IVR upgrade, that represents a system life cycle upgrade.  So we have -- IVR, sorry, is interactive voice response.  It is the -- it is part of the phone system that we use in our call centre.

It has reached end of life, hardware and software, so we absolutely need to upgrade that.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, so that is not an -- I guess it is an upgrade over existing, but that is because the existing is no longer functional?

MR. WINTERS:  Correct.

Customer care and billing application modifications, that represents the minor enhancements on a year-over-year basis that we have to our billing system.

Application rationalization, that is actually a pretty strategic initiative for -- for within my division, anyway, because that will drive -- at least the strategy there and the vision is to drive to lower IT costs, over time, by decreasing our overall footprint.  

I don't know if you want me to go through all of them, but just in general, these are the projects that we feel are prudent and necessary as they relate to either building upon our Cornerstone investment to further draw out further productivity improvements -- I guess it just -- just to close out, unless you want to ask me more questions on it, each one of these would end up having -- before it went forward, would have its own -- it would have its own business case.  

And we take the business case through the appropriate authority approvals, and these are the ones that we have planned and deem are prudent for 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  Aside from the IVR upgrade, are there any other -- are any of the other projects listed here ones you actually have to do for 2010?

MR. WINTERS:  I would say they are all ones we have to do.

I am not trying to be cute there.  I can walk you through GIS application upgrades.  So these represent the minor -- it is sort of the care and feeding of various applications, minor renovations to existing applications in order to fulfil business need.

MR. MILLAR:  Let me take a step back, then, because I suspect you know a lot more about these individual projects than I do, and I am not sure I will be able to challenge you directly on any one of them.

Why did the increase come up 4.9 million over the test year?  Was there any attempt to perhaps smooth expenditures to ensure there wouldn't be a big leap in any given year?

MR. WINTERS:  Similar to our overall business planning process, this represents the outcome of the projects that we contemplated, so this would be the list that we deemed appropriate for the year.

MR. MILLAR:  Is smoothing something that you consider trying to keep -- I forget the references right now, to be honest, but, in other instances, I believe the company said that they would try and level out spending over years to avoid big jumps or, for that matter, big falls in any particular year.  

Is there a reason that wasn't practical in this instance?

MR. WINTERS:  Within all of our initiatives and within all of our planning, we balance business need or business priority, along with resource, availability of resource planning.  So that would be the factors that go into whether we can actually carry out these projects.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

I am going to move on to staff compensation.  Maybe we could start, if I could ask you to turn - these are probably questions for you, Mr. McDonell - C-1, tab 3, schedule 2, and I think page 11.

MR. WINTERS:  I'm there.

MR. MILLAR:  And a number of other parties have already discussed staff compensation levels with you, so I am picking and choosing a few areas where I still have a few questions.

You will see the paragraph starting at line 14, and just to put this into context, this section is discussing the compensation benchmarking studies.  I think the company here is trying to put this into context and to present their reasons why they think some different comparators may be appropriate.  

If you disagree with that, you can let me know.  But I will start you at line 14, and you are discussing the PWU, in particular.  You state:
"PWU wage rates at Hydro One are higher than wages paid at other Local Distribution Companies ... for a variety of reasons and cannot be directly compared.  Hydro One hires multi skilled employees ..." 

And I am skipping through parts of this.  It says:
"These highly skilled classifications allow for a greater range of work to be performed by a single classification.  LDC work is typically based-on dry land and not in the varied landscapes..."


You talk about the need for use of offroad vehicles, that your employees can work on transmission and distribution systems, highly qualified staff that can work on overhead, underground and submarine cables.

This continues on onto the next page, but you see that?

MR. MCDONELL:  I do, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. McDonell, you obviously recall the Mercer study?

MR. MCDONELL:  I do so.

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, I had thought it was filed in this application, but it is actually not; is that correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  No, I don't believe so.  I think you see a reference to it on page 11 of 18 of -- 

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. MCDONELL:  -- Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, which shows the overall results.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  Well, you will be happy to hear I made some copies of a few excerpts I would like to go over with you.  I just had these run off, so I haven't had a chance to provide them to anyone, but I understand you are quite familiar with this report.  In fact, I assume Mr. Rogers has seen it many times, as well.

MR. MCDONELL:  Sure.  I actually have my own copies.

MR. MILLAR:  I have some for the Panel and -- 

MS. NOWINA:  You weren't thinking of asking Mr. Rogers questions of it?

MR. MILLAR:  Not Mr. Rogers, no, no.  Just as a courtesy, I would normally provide this to him beforehand.  I didn't have the time.  This will be Exhibit K8.2, and it is excerpts from the Mercer report.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.2:  EXCERPTS FROM MERCER REPORT.

MR. MILLAR:  I am going to ask you a few questions on the way the Mercer group or the Mercer folks picked out your particular comparators, the appropriate benchmarks.

So if I could ask you to turn to page 8, first of all?

MR. MCDONELL:  I'm there.

MR. MILLAR:  You will see in the third paragraph it says:
"We also reviewed approximately 80 LDCs in Ontario to determine if any of these companies met the scoping criteria." 


Do you see that?

MR. MCDONELL:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Then if you skip to page 11, it shows the comparators that were actually selected.  And, in fact, there is only a single -- by my look, there is only a single LDC that made that list, and that is Toronto Hydro; is that correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So from the passage I just read you, is it fair to say that no one is actually trying to compare you to ordinary LDCs in Ontario?  

You have a great list of why those aren't appropriate comparators, but has anyone actually tried to make that comparison with Hydro One?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think in past hearings, certainly the question has come up as to why Hydro One pays our line staff more than Kirk or whatever other LDC is out there, so we are anticipating that line of questioning so we wanted to address it, but it wasn't part of the Mercer study that is correct. 

MR. MILLAR:  This wasn't a response to Mercer this was a response to anticipated questions from others. 

MR. MCDONELL:  That's true. 

MR. MILLAR:  I would like to go through some of the comparators that Mercer selected as being appropriate.  Frankly, I am not intimately familiar with all of the work that all of these do, but I picked out a few, BC Hydro and BC Transmission. 

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct. 

MR. MILLAR:  They would have several thousand of transmission and distribution lines; is that fair? 

MR. MCDONELL:  I'm probably at the same level of familiarity as you are. 

MR. MILLAR:  Just a guess. 

MR. MCDONELL:  I would say yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  They would have any number of transformer stations. 

MR. MCDONELL:  They are a transmission and a generation company, yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  They would have any number of -- they probably have some underground line, perhaps submarine cable?  

MR. MCDONELL:  I really couldn't tell you. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  They have a lot of renewable hook-ups?  From what I know of B.C., they have a lot of renewable generation. 

MR. MCDONELL:  I will take your word for it. 

MR. MILLAR:  They would have some fairly challenging physical terrain in British Columbia. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Presumably so. 

MR. MILLAR:  A lot of mountains, a lot of trees, a lot of remote areas. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Agreed. 

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, both BC Hydro and New Brunswick might have an additional challenge over Ontario and some of the centrally located utilities, in the fact that I understand when you are close to the coast, salt in the air becomes a problem.  Are you familiar with that?  

MR. MCDONELL:  No, I'm not. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You don't have that problem in Ontario anyways. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Not that I am aware of. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I don't want to take you through all of these, but generally speaking, Manitoba Hydro would have many of those characteristics.  There would be transmission, distribution, there would be remote areas.  I understand it is a bit brisk in Manitoba in the winter, for example. 

MR. MCDONELL:  I guess my overall comment, I would imagine each one of these companies has its own challenges, some may be the same.  Some may be different.  Some may be have newer assets.  Some may have older assets. 

MR. MILLAR:  Of course. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  

MR. MILLAR:  Now the distinguishing characteristics that I read out to you from page 11 of C1, tab 3, schedule 2, do you have any reason to believe that the comparators I have listed and others wouldn't face similar challenges and have similarly skilled workers?  

MR. MCDONELL:  No, I don't have any reason to believe they would be any different. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  

Can I ask you to turn up Energy Probe 57 and that is Exhibit H -- 

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, I have that. 

MR. MILLAR:  I think it is H-3-57. 

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.  

MR. MILLAR:  And in fact, here is a good example of what you were talking about, Energy Probe asking why your costs don't necessarily match others.  If you look in the response under (b). 

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct. 

MR. MILLAR:  You say: 
"In Ontario there's no other utility similar to Hydro One.   While there are large utilities such as Toronto Hydro, London, et cetera, none of these utilities match the size and complexity of the work." 

Now could I ask you to turn up VECC 66 which is Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 67 for some reason, I'm not sure why there is a disconnect there. 

MR. MCDONELL:  I don't think I have that.  I will wait for it to pop up on the screen. 

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  I can't remember the attachment.  Attachment 3. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Oh, okay.  Yes, I have it. 

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, we were just looking at this I think with Mr. Stephenson. 

MR. MCDONELL:  That's right. 

MR. MILLAR:  This is where you compare your wage rates with certain other utilities, including Hydro One Brampton. 

MR. MCDONELL:  That's right. 

MR. MILLAR:  My question for you is, I accept what you say that much of the work that is conducted by Hydro One is probably of a more difficult and requires more skills than a garden variety LDC, if I can put it that way.  

But would you agree with me that that's not necessarily the case for all of your job classifications?  I will give you an example. 

Does a stock keeper for Hydro One really do anything so different than a stock keeper for Hydro One Brampton?  

MR. MCDONELL:  No.  I don't believe that they do anything that much different, no.  

MR. MILLAR:  And you pay 17 percent more than Hydro One Brampton for a stock keeper?  Approximately.  I've got...

MR. MCDONELL:  17 percent?  

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, $33.15. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Versus $28.42. 

MR. MILLAR:  Take that subject to check. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  What about a labourer, do your labourers do something that Hydro One Brampton labourers don't do? 

MR. MCDONELL:  No, they don't. 

MR. MILLAR:  And there, I see a 20 percent premium for working for Hydro One. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Of course the reason to for that is based on collective agreements, and you have heard us talk about our legacy collective agreements in the past.  That was our starting point and the purpose of this exhibit is to show how we have done what I think is a very good job in restraining the increases in these various classifications from which we started at. 

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, and I head your discussion with Mr. Stephenson on this point. 

These costs, it is no surprise, are ultimately passed through to ratepayers; correct?  

MR. MCDONELL:  The Hydro One rates, yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Hydro One of course.  Do you think it comes as much comfort to ratepayers that someone working for Hydro One Networks makes, for example, 21 percent more than someone doing the same thing in Hydro One Brampton simply because they started with a different base collective agreement ten years ago?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, I think the ratepayers should take some confidence in the fact that the labour relations people at Hydro One are very seasoned and very experienced in negotiations and they are doing their level best to limit increases and reduce costs.  

Further to that, I mean -- I think it is important to point out that it is just not the labour relations people at Hydro One.  We also have access to external legal advice, give us strategic direction.  They have a broader view of collective bargaining.  They can tell us what is reasonable, what is not reasonable.  

So I think the ratepayers should have a high degree of confidence that labour relations at Hydro One is being managed very well.  

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe you need worse legal counsel to get your labour rates down.  

I take that back.  

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are you looking for a job?  

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Rogers is doing too well for the company, yes, pointing out how high wages will be.  

Thank you for that.  I understand that.

MR. ROGERS:  I haven't done very well for the company but I am good at labour relations. 

MR. MILLAR:  Again on this chart, I notice you have picked out certain - well, maybe we can turn back to your prefiled.  I am not sure if this is the same chart or not, but if we go back to C1, tab 3, schedule 2, I think it is page 14 and 15.  

No.  It is not.  It is a different chart.  Similar chart, but with some different -- is the only difference here that it is missing -- 

MR. MCDONELL:  Brampton Hydro was an addition through one of your interrogatories, that's right. 

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.  

Okay.  How did you -- obviously you've got, I don't know, seven job classifications here.  How did you pick these seven?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Sure.  If you can throw them back up.  We wanted to pick jobs that reflected the companies that are well used within our organizations.  

These are jobs that we could point to that were at Ontario Hydro in 1999 and continued to be used in the successor companies.  We're talking about highly rated jobs and jobs that have a fairly significant number of people in each of these classifications.  Trying to give a broad view of the various jobs at the companies, both trades and clerical.  

MR. MILLAR:  This wouldn't necessarily be all much the positions for which you and OPG and Bruce Power share, shared -- that you have these classifications?  There would be others?  I am not sure I was clear.  What I am trying to say is there would be other job classifications which are shared by Hydro One, OPG and Bruce Power.  It is not just these seven?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  I would say there would be other jobs, but these are jobs that are very representative of the three companies.  

MR. MILLAR:  And you -- did you pick these as being representative?  

MR. MCDONELL:  I did.  

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  

MR. MCDONELL:  And the reason for that, I used to work as Ontario Hydro so I would have a pretty decent insight of what jobs were there and what jobs are in the successor companies.  

MR. MILLAR:  And I don't know if you have to flip it up again but you agree with me that OPG and Bruce Power are included as comparators in the Mercer report?  

MR. MCDONELL:  That is right. 

MR. MILLAR:  They're already taken into account in that finding of 17 percent over market median. 

MR. MCDONELL:  They are but of course because of Confidentiality, we have not idea how they responded, what their results are on an individual basis.  All we see is the net results.  

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  

You discussed with Mr. Stephenson, what I heard, something called the "end rate" that's the number that you have used here.  Did I get that right?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  Many of these jobs have various steps. 

MR. MILLAR:  Yes. 

MR. MCDONELL:  You know, progression step.  For instance, the trades jobs, I think most of them would have about five or six, maybe seven steps before they reach the end rate.  But employees will enter into a job and, over time they will naturally progress to the end rate.

MR. MILLAR:  So the end rate is the highest rate within that classification?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So this wouldn't necessarily reflect what your average, say, mechanical maintainer makes, this would be the maximum that they could make?

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, I would say it is pretty representative because a lot of the staff in these -- particularly these jobs that we're referring to are fairly senior so they would have made it to the end rate.

MR. MILLAR:  Would that be true of all of these Classifications, stock keeper and labourer, for example?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think this is a very fair representation of the rates that are being paid.  I mean sure there's going to be some people that are lower rate, but by and large I think the end rates is a very fair way to classify them.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, I understood -- I am not suggesting necessarily it is not fair -- but I understood the company had been -- there had been a lot of new hires.  Those new hires wouldn't be at the end rate, would they?

MR. MCDONELL:  We would have people that are apprentices not at the end rate, but so would OPG and Bruce.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

Could I ask you to turn up Schools IR 40.  Exhibit 10 -- pardon me, Exhibit H, tab 10, schedule 40.

MR. MCDONELL:  I have that.

MR. MILLAR:  I believe you have been referred to this before.

The piece I am interested in is where you, they asked you to -- let's see if we can pull it up.  Yes, I think it is the last one, part (iv), if you could go to the answer.

MR. MCDONELL:  Part (iv), yes, I have that.

MR. MILLAR:  This is where the response is:
"Notwithstanding our concerns with the reduction and assumption of similar methodology, a potential disallowance would be approximately $9 million in each year."


And that was compared to the $4 million that was disallowed in the transmission case; is that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I think somebody asked you this question but I am not sure I quite got the answer.  How did you arrive at that figure of $9 million?

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay, sure.

We used the same methodology that we used to arrive at the $4 million that was not allowed in the transmission case, but of course we had to update our information to reflect the numbers in the distribution -- or the current, the current distribution filing, as well as the current business plan.

The methodology that we used previously was based on the 2009-13 business plan.  We had to update it to reflect the current business plan 2010 to 2014.

MR. MILLAR:  If I recall the Board's decision, in fact Mr. DeVellis filed it, I believe, yesterday as an exhibit, but I don't think we have to turn to it.

In the transmission case, Hydro One had submitted that if you were to pay everyone at the market median the impact would be $13 million; do you recall that?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's right, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The Board, in its decision, decided well it wasn't appropriate to cut 13 million and instead decided to cut four million.

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And it gave a variety of reasons for that.

If I wanted to find what the comparable figure to the $13 million was in the distribution case, would it be as simple as comparing the ratio between the four million to nine million which would give me 13 million, doubled and a bit approximately, I don't know, 27 or 28 million dollars just as a rough way that you would determine what the revenue impact would be if you were to pay everyone at the market median, would it be about $28 million?

MR. MCDONELL:  I don't know the precise figure, but I think I'm agreeing with what you are trying to do.  We had 13 million, it was reduced down to four million so there is some proration for that.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. MCDONELL:  When we had to figure out the nine million, we would have had to come up with X.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. MCDONELL:  Whatever X may be, you're saying it is 28 million, I'm not sure what it is, then reduce about by the same proration amount as we had in the transmission case.

MR. MILLAR:  I don't need the specific number but the way I am thinking about it is the way you would calculate that number by and large?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's what I understand.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.

Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 6.  Page 6.

MR. MCDONELL:  Page 6.

MR. MILLAR:  I think this is shoeing kind of a high level overview of the negotiations with the PWU.

I am not going to take you to a specific line item, but you eliminated for both the PWU and the Society incentive pay.  Is that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you have highlighted that as one of the savings that the company has been able to realize.

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I am certainly not going to take issue with that, but let me just discuss with you quickly the -- I guess the theory of why incentive payments would have been offered in the first place.

Am I right that incentive payments are offered not only to reward strong performance, but to also encourage efficiency and hard work?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's what incentive pay would -- that would be the major goal, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you remove incentive payments, does that remove the incentive to -- or -- I shouldn't say remove.  Does it decrease an incentive for your employees to work hard and work efficiently?

MR. MCDONELL:  No.  Absolutely not.  I mean, what we found through experience was when we first brought in incentive pay, we did realize value early on.  But as the years went by, we were started to find some difficulty between the line of sight between -- between the incentive pay payouts and relate it directly to improvements being made at the lower levels, at the work force.

So we were finding it very difficult to continue with the incentive pay in terms of see where the improvements were being made.

MR. MILLAR:  And could I ask you to turn up C2, tab 3.

MR. MCDONELL:  C2?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  C2, tab 3, schedule 1, page 1.  This was something I think Mr. Stephenson took you to.

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  I note that you paid an incentive in 2005 and then I guess this is a particular rate category, I am just using it as an illustration.  You did pay an incentive in 2005, but not afterwards; is that correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.  The incentive pay ceased in 2005.

MR. MILLAR:  I couldn't help but notice when Mr. Stephenson put this up that your biggest jump in overtime expenses came the year after you abandoned the incentive program.

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that just a coincidence?

MR. MCDONELL:  No, it is not a coincidence.  What I explained before 2006 there was a high volume of storms in the province that year.  This is a classification that is very integral in terms of getting power restored.  So there was a lot of overtime but it was directly related to storm damage.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, the overtime didn't fall -- I know you have been over this but the overtime didn't fall in subsequent years.

MR. MCDONELL:  That was the point that was being made.  But we have seen, you know, years in 2008 and 2009 to date, there have been a fair number of storms already.

MR. MILLAR:  I will move on.

Quick questions about the PWU hiring hall.  Could I ask you to turn up Board Staff 70, Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 70.

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  If you look at the responses to the question about the hiring hall at line 21: 

"PWU hiring hall workers do not participate in the Hydro One pension and benefits program."


MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You also note at the bottom paragraph that they are approximately 33 percent less expensive; have I got that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could I take you to Energy Probe 46.  Exhibit H, tab 3, schedule 46.

MR. MCDONELL:  I am there.

MR. MILLAR:  I believe -- I can't find it right now.  Oh, yes, this was -- D is in response to a question from Board Staff regarding the hiring hall and the PWU.

You say that:

"Hydro One remits to the PWU amounts for benefits and pensions.  The PWU administers the pension and benefit funds for hiring hall employees.  Hydro One has no ongoing obligation with respect to these pension and benefit plans."


Can you help me with that?

MR. MCDONELL:  Sorry.  Yes, I can.  The PWU hiring hall do not join the Hydro One pension plan, nor do they enjoy the benefits of the Hydro One benefits.

What Hydro One does do, though, is we make a contribution to the welfare fund and the pension fund that are run and administered by the PWU.  It's a very, very common practice in construction unions, where the employer makes a contribution, typically it is on a per-hour basis, but they do not join our plan.  It is a plan that is run by the union.

MR. MILLAR:  So is the way it works that during those times that they're working for you, you are making a pension contribution just not through your pension plan?  

MR. MCDONELL:  No.  We are not making -- maybe it is semantics.  We are not making a pension contribution.  We are providing a dollar amount per hour to go into a pension fund that is administered by the union. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I understand.  

When you calculated that the hiring hall folks were 33 percent less expensive than your regular workers, does that account for the payment as I am calling it related to pension expenses? 

MR. MCDONELL:  It would be because the base rate is not terribly different between the PWU hiring hall and our regular forces.  The big difference is the fact that they don't join our pension and benefit programs.  

MS. NOWINA:  Is it, just to be clear, that you do include the costs in making that comparison whatever you are contributing to their pension fund?  

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.  

MR. MILLAR:  Thanks.  You had a discussion with Mr. Faye on your -- yesterday on your attrition rate, if I can call it that, the number of employees you lose every year. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  I understood from that, that for regular staff you are between two and four percent a year; is that right?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  On a period of time we have seen from 2 to 4 percent.  I think I quoted in 2008 a 3.5 percent attrition rate.  

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand that includes retirements; is that right?  

MR. MCDONELL:  It would include retirements and non-retirement terminations.  

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to tell me what portion of that is based -- of the 3.5 percent, what portion of that is retirements? 

MR. MCDONELL:  It is a large portion.  Just give me one moment.  

I am going to give you 2008 data here, just because it is a complete year. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  

MR. MCDONELL:  Of 171 employees that left the organization, 116 were a result of retirement and 55 were non-retirement terminations.  So...

MR. MILLAR:  Most of it. 

MR. MCDONELL:  The majority would be retirements.  

MR. MILLAR:  Thanks.  

Has the number of between 2 and 4 percent been consistent over the last number of years?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Pretty much. 

MR. MILLAR:  Is it trending up or trending down or is it essentially level? 

MR. MCDONELL:  2009 is on the same -- in terms of retirements is at the same level as we have seen in 2008, but what we are now moving into is a period of years where more and more of our staff are reaching 35 years on our pension plan.  

And 35 years is a very significant milestone for our employees and they, there is a high risk of employees will retire at 35 years on the plan.  

And so up until I think it is 2017, the absolute numbers each year of staff reaching 35 is increasing dramatically.  

MR. MILLAR:  To the best of your knowledge, would this also be true of your major comparators, say OPG or Bruce or do you know that?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Just based on some experience, I would say that is probably reasonable, because back in the ‘80s when we were hiring, Ontario Hydro, we were hiring lots of people back then.  So I would imagine they have the same issues.  As a matter of fact most companies in the electrical industries are sharing the same problems we have.  

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

You also discussed the MCP positions and if I heard you, something like 23 to 25 people left in 2008?  

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct. 

MR. MILLAR:  And that includes retirements?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  

MR. MILLAR:  And do you have the split on that?  Or would it be more or less the same?  

MR. MCDONELL:  No, I don't.  I would say it is still more retirements than just simply terminations. 

MR. MILLAR:  And are the numbers more or less the same year over year for MCP as well?  

MR. MCDONELL:  In terms of?  

MR. MILLAR:  In terms of the number of people leaving, whether it be retirements or otherwise. 

MR. MCDONELL:  I haven't -- I think the -- I think I said for 2008 it was 25 to -- 

MR. MILLAR:  Yes. 

MR. MCDONELL:  I haven't looked at 2009.  I would say it would be roughly the same. 

MR. MILLAR:  And going backwards a few years?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Give or take. 

MR. MILLAR:  The same?  

MR. MCDONELL:  By and large, yes.  

MR. MILLAR:  And for your comparators, do you have any reason to believe they would be -- do you have any knowledge about that?  

MR. MCDONELL:  No.  But just material that we have read.  I mean I think it is fairly common knowledge that the whole industry has seen a demographic challenge.  So I guess it is a reasonable conclusion to make that everybody else is having similar retirement levels. 

MR. MILLAR:  Most of your people are, as you say, leaving because of retirement.  They're not going to the next place over with a better offer; is that fair to say?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, it is a little bit of both.  I mean we do have people that have been recruited by companies like OPG, Bruce, OPA, IESO.  

MR. MILLAR:  I take it you, on occasion, recruit people from those organizations?  

MR. MCDONELL:  We do.  

MR. MILLAR:  I have one final area.  

Can I ask you to turn up Energy Probe 59, that is Exhibit H, tab 3, schedule 59.  

We have been discussing some of the difficulty Hydro One has been -- not you and I, but with some other counsel, you have been discussing some of the difficulties Hydro One faces in attracting talent.  

Energy Probe C here, they ask has Hydro One encountered any difficulty attracting apprentices to any of its trade classifications.  The answer is no.  I understand obviously apprentices are not your entire work force.  

But is it fair to say that you are not actually facing trouble hiring in all areas; is that a fair statement?  

MR. MCDONELL:  No.  That's a fair statement.  We've been quite successful in classifications like our apprentices and our new grads.  But certainly we have had some issues in, more senior positions and I am not talking senior executive.  I am talking about, in particular, field supervisors who might have 15 years of service in order to, you know, come in and supervise a group of trades staff.  In that area we are having some difficulties. 

We are having some difficulty in our protection and control engineering because of a skill shortage worldwide.  Power system engineers we are having difficulty, CAD technicians we are having difficulty.  

MR. MILLAR:  If we were to look at your head count, let's just take 2005, for example.  Would your head count in 2005 have been higher than in 2004?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Just one moment.  Sorry, I thought I had 2004 in that chart.  Yes, it would have been higher in 2005, yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  Higher again in 2006? 

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  Higher in 2007? 

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  Higher in 2008? 

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Higher in 2009?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Predicting higher for 2010? 

MR. MCDONELL:  Right. 

MR. MILLAR:  Predicting higher for 2011? 

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  Overall, are you really having trouble to have people to fill positions?  

MR. MCDONELL:  In some of our key areas, yes, we are. 

MR. MILLAR:  I listened with interest when you discussed with my friends from the Society the wage increases that you have offered to the Society staff.  I understand it is -- I may be wrong but essentially across the Board it was three percent, three percent, two and a half, two and a half, something like that. 

MR. MCDONELL:  In this current collective agreement, that's correct. 

MR. MILLAR:  And that is across the Board. 

MR. MCDONELL:  If you mean for all Society staff. 

MR. MILLAR:  Yes. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  For PWU I am not sure what the comparable numbers are, but maybe you can tell me approximately what are the annual increases for the PWU?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Three percent in this current collective agreement that expires in 2011.  

MR. MILLAR:  And that's for all PWU employees?  

MR. MCDONELL:  That is across the Board, yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  Why haven't you looked at paying more for the areas where you are having trouble getting workers and not necessarily bumping everybody's salary. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Then you get into a real issue about collective bargaining, and it is difficult for a trade union to negotiate wages for their membership and give some more, more to some and less to others.  

I mean, I don't represent the trade unions, but philosophically that is a very difficult thing for them to do. 

MR. MILLAR:  Isn't it also difficult to justify year-over-year increases in positions where there is no difficulty attracting talent?  

MR. MCDONELL:  I mean, if you take a look at collective agreements in a broad view -- and I think we have some excerpts of settlements that have occurred, I mean that's what you're seeing, you are seeing three percent across the board in many different sectors, many different industries.  

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Thank you. 

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

Mr. Rogers?  

MR. ROGERS:  I have just one question, Madam Chair.  Thank you.  I think it might save me and you some argument to listen to. 
Re-Examination by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  This is, I think are for Mr. Villett.  Mr. Villett you may recall that Mr. Warren was asking you some questions about the consultation with First Nations and the Metis communities?  

MR. VILLETT:  Yes. 

MR. ROGERS:  He was, as I understood it, he was concerned there was some double efforts that you were duplicating efforts of other agencies such as I guess the OPA and others in dealing with these groups?  

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, I recall that.

MR. ROGERS:  You weren't too sure what -- what was being done in that respect.  Can you give -- have you had a chance to look into the matter?  Can you give the Board any assurance concerning the overlapping of efforts by these various agencies, if any?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, I did have a chance to look into it.

Hydro One has a duty to consult for the projects that we are proposing to complete, whereas other agencies, such as OPG, would have a responsibility for their projects.

So the activities do not overlap.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you.

That's fine.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

We may have some questions of the panel.  Before you break, I have...

MS. NOWINA:  I will come back to you, Mr. Rogers.  Mr. Sommerville?
Questions by the Board:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just very briefly on that same subject matter, Mr. Villett, I think that conversation with Mr. Warren arose in a context in which there was -- in the evidence there is a fairly substantial increase in the communications budget for 2010 and 2011.  And I think a very substantial portion of that was attributed to the consultation activities with First Nations.

Do I have that right?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And I gathered from your evidence - and I just want to be clear about it - as I understood it, part of the costs associated with that consultation is a funding mechanism of some kind for the First Nations to engage in the consultation; is that right?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes, that's correct.  Where they don't have the necessary financial or human resources to effectively participate in the consultation process, we would assist so that they're able to effectively participate in the consultations for the projects we are proposing to put forward.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that by way of loan or is it a grant?  Is it a settlement of outstanding claims?  How is that money actually accounted for?

MR. VILLETT:  I don't have the specific details.  My understanding - and perhaps I can check with this - is that we would provide the funding to pay for -- if they needed to hire an expert, for example, to participate in that consultation, but...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

Just sort of a bit of a corollary to that.  I gather that the split between transmission and distribution, with respect to that aspect of the budget, was similar to the other allocation, which is 60-40, is that right, in favour of transmission.

MR. VILLETT:  I don't know the specifics of that allocation. 

In terms of the way the cost allocation model is put together, there would be specific activities for each -- each department.  So consultation would be one of the activities for the First Nations department, and it would have its own allocation between transmission, distribution and the other. 

There may be other activities that could have a slightly different allocation.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. VILLETT:  Generally speaking, it would be the largest part, so I would say it would be pretty close.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So that 60-40 split in favour of transmission would be not counterintuitive, as far as you are concerned.  It would be sort of in that ballpark?

MR. VILLETT:  I would say so.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Does that activity or the fact of that activity have any implications for the kind of timing or elements of certainty with respect to your programs?

MR. VILLETT:  I am not sure I understand the question.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let me rephrase it.

The consultation with the First Nations can take the form of a negotiation.

MR. VILLETT:  Correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sometimes there are outstanding issues in those discussions, where there are environmental assessments that may become part of that process, and sometimes that has the -- not infrequently, that has the effect of creating an air of uncertainty about projects.

MR. VILLETT:  I would agree that that is a risk, that if negotiations do take longer than we expect, that that could delay the timing of certain projects.

And if you recall the confidential Board material, that type of thing was identified in the Board package.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. McDonell, with respect to -- we have the Mercer report that represents a comparison typically between, I will call them, utilities; fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  I there I think there was some other -- sorry, let me start over.

Many utilities, but I believe there are some other -- other regulated industries that weren't utilities.  I think Bell, for instance.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am kind of including the old definition of utility, including telephone, sorry.

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But essentially public sector or sort of utility-type comparators, is that a fair characterization?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  Just...  

I think I am going to say yes.  I just wanted to double-check.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, in the Mercer document that Mr. Millar provided you with, it is on the last page of that.  There is a listing of the companies.

MR. MCDONELL:  Page 11, I believe; right?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Indeed, yes.

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am not trying to belabour that point particularly, but have you or does the company conduct comparisons with private-sector, non-utility wage settlements, settlements that your ratepayers may be participating in?

MR. MCDONELL:  I can't think of any studies that we have done, but we certainly do look at external forecasts for collective agreement increases, and we have looked at things like the Mercer consulting forecast, as well as the conference Board of Canada forecast, which would include collective agreements in non-utility sectors.

So I think the answer to that is, yes, we do look across various types of sectors to look at what other collective agreements forecast for economic increases.  Hopefully that made some sense.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It does.  As a rule, would you characterize those as being generally higher, in the 
last -- say, last two years, generally higher than the experience of your cohort in the utility side or generally lower?

MR. MCDONELL:  I would probably say it is probably generally the same.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Chaplin.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  My questions are on compensation, so they're for you, Mr. McDonell.

I am looking, first, at this large chart at H, tab 7, schedule 67.

MR. MCDONELL:  I think it is going to come up here in a sec.  Yes, I have that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And I don't have the other reference to hand from your prefiled, but I think you will recall that there was the observation made that -- in your prefiled testimony, that the work program had increased by 33 percent, but your regular staff was increasing by 16 percent.

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Do you recall that?  And it was pointed out on this chart at H-7-67 that, in fact, your total head count was increasing at the 37 percent?

MR. MCDONELL:  Thirty-seven percent would be total head count, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So I guess would a fair conclusion - you can tell me why it might not be fair - would be that in comparing the 33 with the 37 -- and I understand your testimony to be you were emphasizing the 16 percent because you were demonstrating that by using casual and temporary, you were retaining as much flexibility as possible.

But if I was to compare the 33 percent growth in the work plan with the 37 percent increase in head count, would -- a conclusion that could be reached is you are not really improving your productivity or efficiency level with respect to labour resources.

Would that be a fair conclusion?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think -- maybe Mr. Malozewski might have a comment, perhaps, but I think what I would say in response is that by using more casual employees to make up that 16 percent the 33 percent gap, we are using resources in a more economical fashion, because we are able to use resources that are not regular employees and, therefore, don't join our pension and benefit programs, which is, you know, a fairly significant cost saving.

Does that help you?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, I think you are covering off sort of the financial end but I guess I am -- and perhaps it is more a question for you, Mr. Malozewski, Mr. Malozewski, pardon me -- you know, why are we not seeing increased productivity?  In other words, why can't you do 33 percent more work with fewer than 33 percent more people?  

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  And I think a major part of the explanation goes back to the distributed generation connection-type work.  

Again, there, you are seeing a large number of relatively small projects.  Certainly in asset management, we see the impact of needing more people to handle that, whereas on the transmission side you have a fewer number of very large dollar value projects with a lot of purchasing leverage. 

So on the DG side, it is a lot of little stuff and it just requires more people to execute them.  

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  That's helpful.  

Now, back on the wage component.  And again, looking at H-7-67, and I have just sort of eye-balled this, but if -- I am looking at the second to last column which is average base pay.   

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Okay. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  I see in 2008 it is close to 71,000, and when I look down the column for each of the years, it is increasing and if I compare the 2011 figure of 77,286, it is about and I compare that back to 2008, I think that is about a 9 percent increase.  Would you take that sort of subject to check?  

MR. MCDONELL:  2011 to 2008, is that the comparison? 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes. 

MR. MCDONELL:  About 11 percent increase?  

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think about 9 percent. 

MR. MCDONELL:  I will trust your math. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Brave man.  I think that is about 3 percent a year.  The progression looks fairly regular.  So I am extrapolating a 3 percent per year. 

So my question is, we don't -- you are adding large numbers of people, large numbers of casual and temporary, but we are not really seeing any tempering in the ongoing year-over-year increase in that base pay.  

Now, am I correct in that what your response is, is that maybe not, but there are going to be reductions on the pension and benefit side and that's an offsetting factor?  

MR. MCDONELL:  By the use of casual employees?  

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  

MR. MCDONELL:  Certainly, yes.  

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  But with you adding all of these staff, and you have explained that within all of your job groupings there is progression steps, why are we not seeing some tempering effect from people being hired in at the more junior levels?  

So in other words why, you know 3 percent is basically what's in your collective agreements and that's what we're seeing here.  Why are we not seeing some tempering from the incoming people being at a more junior level?  

[Witness panel confers]  

MR. MCDONELL:  Sorry, I had to confer with my finance people here.  I think what you are also seeing in those numbers, in addition to the 3 percent that's been negotiated, employees are receiving in addition to that, step progression as well, as they move up the various steps in their particular job.  I think that would account for it.  

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And typically does someone move a step each year?  

MR. MCDONELL:  For the vast majority of staff, yes.  There are some -- especially in the trades where they progress every six months, but I think that is a fair statement that, assuming a satisfactory performance, they would progress every year, yes.  

MS. CHAPLIN:  What are the -- is there a rough average for what the percent increase is for each of those progression steps?  

MR. MCDONELL:  For the PWU, most steps are going to be roughly 3 percent.  

For the Society, there is a nine-step within each pay grade, if you will.  There is six pay grades.  And at the lower levels, as they advance up to 1, 2, 3, 4, it is a little bit of a higher percentage increase, but I think when they reach step 5 and go to step 6, 7, 8 and 9 the percentage increase is somewhere in the magnitude of one, one and a half percent.  So it is a little bit more at the bottom steps, a little bit less at the upper steps. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Just stepping back to the PWU example.  So typically PWU, someone in a PWU position, by and large throughout this period is looking at increases of 6 percent a year?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Their economic increase and their step progression, yes, assuming that they haven't reached the end step, yes, yes. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.  Okay.  

All right.  Thank you for that.  

Turning now to H, tab 3, schedule 57.  And I think Mr. Millar took you there.  

MR. MCDONELL:  This is Energy Probe?  

MS. CHAPLIN:  This is Energy Probe interrogatory number 57.  And it was your response to (b) and I was interested at the comment at the end, and you mentioned this earlier, talking about how there might be other large transmission and distribution utilities in other provinces, but the reality is you compete for staff more so in Ontario and as such, compensation at the successor companies is the most relevant.  

I guess turning first to the "other" utilities outside Ontario.  And I guess I am combining that with the evidence we have that the Mercer study included a bunch of utilities outside of Ontario, and Hydro One's performance -- like we don't know where each of the rest of those plays but we do know that Hydro One was above the median.  

So I guess my question is, you may be at risk of losing your employees to other entities in Ontario, and I will come to that in a minute, but can you not recruit from outside Ontario where perhaps the competition is not so fierce?  And your compensation package perhaps looks quite, quite competitive?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, I am not so sure I would agree that in other provinces, they're not having a similar problem in terms of recruiting staff because I think it is a worldwide shortage.   

MS. CHAPLIN:  Is that sort of across the board, or in those particular -- some of those particularly key areas that you identified earlier?  

MR. MCDONELL:  I think in fairness to you, it would be in those key areas, for sure.  

Of course for us to recruit staff from out of province, I mean there are certainly additional costs for us to do that.  

You know people generally aren't going to move across the country without some expectation for relocation expenses, which can be fairly significant.  And, yes.  Just one sec.  

[Witness panel confers]  

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  Thanks. 

Mr. Malozewski makes a good point too.  I mean one of the problems that we're finding, especially in Toronto, is that potential applicants really don't want to move to Toronto due to the higher cost of living.  Don't know why, but...

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  

So where do you -- so do you primarily draw from within Ontario for your recruitment?  

MR. MCDONELL:  Do we?  Generally?  

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes. 

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, we do.  

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And have you given thought to recruiting from even beyond Canada, sort of further afield, sort of overseas where there might be highly trained personnel who might quite welcome the opportunity to relocate?  

MR. MCDONELL:  We sure do.  Especially in those key areas that we were referring to.  

A couple of things.  We have entered into a relationship with an organization called Career Bridge, which is an organization that helps find foreign-trained engineers, find employment in Canada.  So on average I think we might recruit six or seven foreign-trained engineers that way.


Personally, I have been involved in a couple of situations this year where we have had to go through the labour market opinion process in order to recruit foreign nationals to our company.

I had mentioned before about a third party relationship with an outsourcing company that we have developed, and they have looked abroad for us, as well, in the US markets, probably overseas, as well.  So we are expanding our horizons.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

And I was interested in your comment, I believe it was in response to Mr. Millar, about -- you have already identified that you compete with OPG and Bruce Power for some of these key positions, and you also referenced the IESO and the OPA.

So is that your observation, that people in particular positions or in particularly -- positions that are particularly in demand can kind of shop around and move around amongst those -- kind of that small subset of organizations and leverage themselves in a way that is, you know, beneficial to themselves?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think we have seen that, in some experience, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Because I guess I am sort of wondering.  I'm mean, basically the wages for all of those entities at the end of the day will find their way to the ratepayers' bill, whether they work for IESO, OPA, OPG, Bruce Power -- perhaps Bruce Power is in a slightly different category, but certainly all of the others, just sort of a direct line to the bill.

So by kind of approving these sort of things and building rates on this, aren't we perpetuating an internal competition that is perhaps beneficial to those people in those highly demand positions, but is sort of putting relentless pressure on rates?  I mean, why is that -- what should a regulator -- how should a regulator respond to that?  

It seems we would be merely exacerbating that competition.

MR. MCDONELL:  I mean, I certainly hear and understand what you're saying there.  

But I guess the reality is we are the transmitter.  We are the largest distributor in the province, and we have an obligation and responsibility to make sure that we are able to recruit employees to our organization so that we have competent employees in order to run our business.

I mean, that is what we're also responsible for.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Thank you very much, panel.  That completes your cross-examination.

Mr. Rogers, we were going to talk about arguments schedule; in particular, argument-in-chief.

MR. ROGERS:  Two things, if I could, before we go.  I will deal with that in a moment, Madam Chair, but I will just advise the Board that additional undertakings have been filed this afternoon, J6.3, J6.6, J7.3, and J7.6.

With respect to argument, it would be my proposal, with your approval, that I would be permitted to give oral argument-in-chief rather than written argument.

And I would be prepared to do that the day following the close of the evidence.

MS. NOWINA:  Great.  So that would be January 12th, and we have all those days scheduled.

MR. ROGERS:  If all goes according to plan, yes.

MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we plan for that?  We will put together a schedule, then, for the remainder of argument, leveraging from that date.

MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.  Thank you very much.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much.  Everyone have a good holiday season and a safe one, and we will see you in the new year.  We are now dismissed.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:28 p.m.
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